Lindenwood University

Digital Commons@Lindenwood University

Dissertations

Theses & Dissertations

Spring 3-10-2021

Examining the Impact of Interscholastic State Activity Association Athletics Expansion at the Middle School Level in a Large Urban School District

Nathaniel Brooks Gillespie Lindenwood University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.lindenwood.edu/dissertations

Part of the Elementary Education Commons

Recommended Citation

Gillespie, Nathaniel Brooks, "Examining the Impact of Interscholastic State Activity Association Athletics Expansion at the Middle School Level in a Large Urban School District" (2021). *Dissertations*. 15. https://digitalcommons.lindenwood.edu/dissertations/15

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses & Dissertations at Digital Commons@Lindenwood University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons@Lindenwood University. For more information, please contact phuffman@lindenwood.edu.

Examining the Impact of Interscholastic State Activity Association Athletics Expansion at the Middle School Level in a Large Urban School District

by

Nathaniel Brooks Gillespie

March 10, 2021

A Dissertation submitted to the Education Faculty of Lindenwood University in

partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Education

School of Education

Examining the Impact of Interscholastic State Activity Association Athletics Expansion at the Middle School Level in a Large Urban School District

by

Nathaniel Brooks Gillespie

This Dissertation has been approved as partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Education

Lindenwood University, School of Education

Dr. Brad Hanson, Dissertation Chair

Dr. Sherry DeVore, Committee Member

Anderson, Commi

Moners Date

2021 Date

Date

Declaration of Originality

I do hereby declare and attest to the fact that this is an original study based solely upon my own scholarly work at Lindenwood University and that I have not submitted it for any other college or university course or degree.

Full Legal Name: Nathaniel Brooks Gillespie

Date: 3/10/2021 Signature: //

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank Dr. Brad Hanson for his consistent motivation and mentorship during the duration of this study. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Sherry DeVore and Dr. Lisa Anderson, for their guidance and attention to detail. Additionally, I would like to acknowledge Dr. Kathy Grover for her assistance with the analysis of the quantitative data and assistance with the Institutional Review Board. I owe an unmeasurable amount of thanks to my wife, Haley, and children, Jack and Emma, for their patience, support, and flexibility during this academic journey. Finally, I would like to dedicate this work to my grandfather, Robert B. Powers, who motivated me to become a better coach, educator, and administrator each and every day.

Abstract

Few studies have been conducted to investigate the educational benefits of participation in extracurricular activities during middle school (Hughes et al., 2016; Knifsend & Graham, 2012). This mixed-methods study involved elicitation of athletic directors' perceptions and analysis of secondary data to determine the impact of interscholastic athletics participation on school connectedness. The qualitative portion of the study involved an analysis of the perceptions of athletic directors. The quantitative portion of the study involved an analysis of grade-point average (GPA), attendance, and discipline data of middle school students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016– 2017 school year and those who competed in interscholastic athletics between the school years of 2016–2017 through 2019–2020. The qualitative data revealed the following themes: interscholastic athletics participation positively impacts GPA, attendance, and discipline, and students participating in interscholastic athletics experience greater school connectedness. Following analysis of secondary quantitative data both overall and by gender for each year, it was concluded that while there was no significant difference in GPA, there was a significant difference in attendance and discipline; therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. The qualitative and quantitative data directly support the theory of students being more connected to school through interscholastic athletics participation (Finn, 1989; Gowing, 2019; Marsh, 1993).

Abstractiii
Table of Contents iv
List of Tables
Chapter One: Introduction
Background of the Study 2
Conceptual Framework
Statement of the Problem
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions and Hypotheses7
Significance of the Study
Delimitations, Limitations, and Assumptions9
Definition of Key Terms
Summary11
Chapter Two: Review of Literature
Conceptual Framework
School Connectedness
State and National High School Athletics Associations
Middle School Sports
Intramural Sports

Table of Contents

Interscholastic Sports
Summary
Chapter Three: Methodology
Problem and Purpose Overview
Research Questions and Hypotheses
Research Design
Population and Sample
Instrumentation
Data Collection
Data Analysis
Ethical Considerations
Summary
Chapter Four: Analysis of Data
Research Question One and Two
Research Question Three
Summary
Chapter Five: Summary and Conclusions
Findings
Conclusions
Implications for Practice

Summary	
References	
Appendix A	
Appendix B	
Appendix C	
Appendix D	
Vita	

List of Tables

Table 1. Middle School Intramural and Interscholastic Sports Participants 444
Table 2. Perceived Impact of Interscholastic Athletics on School Connectedness
Table 3. Perception of Student School Connectedness After Shifting to Interscholastic
Athletics
Table 4. Most Common Perceived Benefits of Interscholastic Athletics Expansion on
School Connectedness Factors
Table 5. Most Common Perceived Negatives of Interscholastic Athletics Expansion on
School Connectedness
Table 6. Comparison of Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic
Athletics (2017–2018)
Table 7. Comparison of Male Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and
Interscholastic Athletics (2017–2018)
Table 8. Comparison of Female Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and
Interscholastic Athletics (2017–2018)
Table 9. Comparison of Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic
<i>Athletics</i> (2018–2019)
Table 10. Comparison of Male Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and
Interscholastic Athletics (2018–2019)
Table 11. Comparison of Female Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and
Interscholastic Athletics (2018–2019)
Table 12. Comparison of Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic
Athletics (2019–2020)

Table 13. Comparison of Male Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2019–2020)	00
Table 14. Comparison of Female Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2019–2020)	00
Table 15. Comparison of Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2017–2018)	11
Table 16. Comparison of Male Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2017–2018)	22
Table 17. Comparison of Female Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2017–2018)	22
Table 18. Comparison of Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2018–2019)	33
Table 19. Comparison of Male Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2018–2019)	74
Table 20. Comparison of Female Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2018–2019)	44
Table 21. Comparison of Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2019–2020)	55
Table 22. Comparison of Male Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2019–2020)	76
Table 23. Comparison of Female Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2019–2020)	66

Table 24. Comparison of Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2017–2018)7	77
Table 25. Comparison of Male Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2017–2018)	78
Table 26. Comparison of Female Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2017–2018)	88
Table 27. Comparison of Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2018–2019)	79
Table 28. Comparison of Male Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2018–2019)	80
Table 29. Comparison of Female Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2018–2019)	00
Table 30. Comparison of Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interval	
Interscholastic Athletics (2019–2020)	81
Table 31. Comparison of Male Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2019–2020)	82
Table 32. Comparison of Female Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and	
Interscholastic Athletics (2019–2020)	22

Chapter One: Introduction

According to Blum (2005), students are more likely to succeed when they feel connected to school. Gowing (2019) emphasized young people's relationship with school is a significant element in their lives and can be highly influential in terms of the overall school experience. The longer students are connected to school, starting at middle school, the greater the chances of being academically successful (Sampasa-Kanyinga et al., 2019). School connection impacts students' mental health, future aspirations, and educational outcomes, making it an essential area for research (Frostick et al., 2018).

The main purpose of this study was to measure the impact of interscholastic athletics expansion on school connectedness at the middle school level in an urban school district. The urban school district in this study recently moved to a more stringent participation model with more requirements placed on student-athletes (S. Spence, personal communication, 2019). Students who previously had few to no minimum requirements to participate now had to meet the standards set forth by the state sanctioning body (S. Spence, personal communication, December 6, 2019). This move by the district led to a discussion of whether more students would be connected to school as measured by grade point average (GPA), attendance, and discipline rates (S. Spence, personal communication, December 6, 2019).

While many studies have been conducted regarding school connectedness and the future success of high school students, little research is available about middle school students. This is especially true regarding the impact of interscholastic activity participation on school connectedness (Im et al., 2016). This study provides valuable research as students are more likely to perform better academically, attend school more

frequently, and avoid risky behaviors when experiencing a greater sense of school connectedness (American Psychological Association [APA], 2019a).

Background of the Study

Recent research on school connectedness has been focused on the multiple aspects of belonging in school, especially regarding the impacts of school features (e.g., location, program offerings), the learning community, and relationships among students and between students and staff (Bouchard & Berg, 2017). In order to increase a student's sense of school belonging, extracurricular activity participation may be a key factor (Seow & Pan, 2014). The nature of interactions within and during activities may heighten a sense of belonging at school (Knifsend et al., 2018). A higher level of school connectedness in middle school is predictive of adolescents staying enrolled in school (Tomek et al., 2017).

The advancement of researching school belonging is essential for schools and policymakers who advocate for primary preventive measures to foster both academic and well-being outcomes in students (Allen et al., 2018). Knifsend et al. (2018) found, "Positive interactions with school staff, teachers, and peers in school-affiliated activity settings are likely to promote a sense of identification with and belongingness at school in general, but this explanation has not been explicitly tested" (p. 1208). Participation in extracurricular activities has been associated with improved academic performance, but additional research is needed to further explore, test, and build on the ideas materialized from this analysis (Malin, 2015).

Extracurricular activities play a key role in whole-person education (Chan, 2016). Extracurricular activity participation has also been identified as a strategy to promote school connectedness (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2009). Furthermore, according to Martinez et al. (2016), "Extracurricular activities provide students with different developmental opportunities" (pp. 71–72). Korpershoek et al. (2019) associated a greater sense of belonging at school with higher levels of academic engagement and performance. Knifsend et al. (2018) suggested close ties to the school established and maintained through activities foster a greater sense of school connectedness.

School engagement, or students' behavioral and emotional connectedness with school, is a reliable indicator of high school graduation and college attendance (Anderson & Mezuk, 2015). School connectedness has been identified as a key protective factor to help students avoid the multiple behaviors associated with risk for adverse health and educational outcomes (CDC, 2009). Participation in school-based extracurricular activities also plays a direct role in positive student-teacher relationships and school behaviors (Zaff et al., 2017).

Conceptual Framework

Examination of the impact of interscholastic state activity association athletics expansion at the middle school level in a large urban school district was conducted based upon two frameworks: Marsh's (1993) identification/commitment model and Finn's (1989) participation-identification model. According to Marsh's (1993) identification/commitment model, participation in school athletics enhances school identification and involvement, and commitment benefits academic outcomes. The participation-identification model focuses on student involvement in schooling in terms of both behavioral and emotional components (Finn, 1989). Marsh (1993) argued, "Participation in extracurricular activities has typically been found to facilitate academic outcomes rather than detract from them" (p. 27). Additionally, Marsh (1993) noted, "Participation in extracurricular activities enhances self-concept, and the improved self-concept has positive effects on other outcomes" (p. 27). This model relates to the overall study, as participation in extracurricular activities produces an increased identification with academic pursuits (Marsh, 1993). Marsh's (1993) framework also assisted in supporting this study, as student commitment to the school through extracurricular participation often leads to the growth of school-related values such as higher GPAs and lower delinquency rates.

The participation-identification model is of value to school connectedness (Finn, 1989). As Finn (1989) stated, "Participation in school activities may provide a handle through which increased levels of identification may become accessible" (p. 127). Additionally, Finn (1989) reasoned, "The failure of a youngster to participate in the school and class activities or to develop a sense of identification with school, may have deleterious consequences" (p. 117). Through his research, Finn (1989) noted:

Students who identify with school have an internalized conception of belongingness—they are discernibly part of the school environment, and school constitutes an essential part of their own experience. And secondly, these individuals value success in school-relevant goals. (p. 123)

Finn (1989) also argued problem behaviors, such as truancy and disruptive behavior in the classroom, are associated with poor academic performance; the lack of bonding with the school increases problem behaviors.

Statement of the Problem

Middle school serves as a time of transition as students prepare for high school while attempting to find their place in the school environment (O'Donnell, 2020). Some students struggle, act out, or show a decline in academic performance and motivation during the middle school years (APA, 2019b). According to Blum (2005), "While connecting students to school is important at all grade levels, it's especially crucial during the adolescent years" (p. 16). Relationships fostered by students and teachers are important and serve as a protective factor for students during middle school (APA, 2019b).

While extracurricular activities have been linked to positive educational outcomes in elementary and high school students, little research has focused on middle school students and whether activities play an essential role (National Alliance for Youth Sport, 2015). According to Im et al. (2016), "Despite a large body of research documenting benefits of participation, few studies have investigated the benefits of participating in extracurricular activities during the critical middle school years on academic outcomes" (p. 2). Grades reflect multiple factors valued by teachers, and this multidimensional quality makes grades good predictors of important outcomes (Easton et al., 2017). According to Blum (2005), critical accountability measures, including academic performance, absenteeism, and negative behaviors (e.g., fighting or bullying), can be influenced positively through increased school connectedness.

Marsh and Kleitman (2002) found school-based extracurricular activities are more beneficial than out-of-school activities. Furthermore, Marsh (1993) argued extracurricular school activities increase school identification and commitment. School-based activities, while allowing for the fostering of greater school identification and commitment (connectedness), benefit other academic outcomes such as absenteeism and academic achievement (Marsh & Kleitman, 2002).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to examine the impact of the expansion of middle school interscholastic athletics in a large urban school district in Missouri based on the perceptions of two district-level and 11 site-level athletic directors from nine middle schools and five high schools. Secondary data were also analyzed to determine if there is a significant difference in school connectedness factors of GPA, attendance, and discipline between students participating in interscholastic athletics and students participating in intramural athletics at the middle school level. The activities used for this study were the Missouri State High School Athletic Association (MSHSAA)-recognized interscholastic activities of football, basketball, volleyball, track and field, cross country, sideline cheerleading, and wrestling, as these have the highest rates of participation in the district at both the high school and middle school levels (District Information, 2019).

An email conversation in late 2019 with one of the aforementioned high school athletic directors regarding the most pressing issues facing the district athletics department brought forth the idea for this study (S. Spence, personal communication, December 6, 2019). The discussion centered on how middle school student-athletes entering high school have been affected by the eligibility requirements set forth by the MSHSAA (S. Spence, personal communication, December 6, 2019). Prior to the 2017– 2018 school year, the school district did not have state-sanctioned interscholastic sports at the middle school level but instead ran an intramural athletics program operated by the district (S. Spence, personal communication, December 6, 2019). This discussion led to the question of whether student-athletes who have transitioned from middle school to high school have notable differences in student achievement, attendance, and discipline (S. Spence, personal communication, December 6, 2019). The athletic director noted during the conversation these topics had been mentioned at meetings, but there was no study or data to determine what, if any, impact the expansion of MSHSAA interscholastic athletics had on the district (S. Spence, personal communication, December 6, 2019).

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The following research questions and hypotheses guided the study:

1. What is the perceived impact of interscholastic state activity association athletics expansion at the middle school level on school connectedness factors of grade point average (GPA), attendance, and discipline from the perspective of middle school athletic directors?

2. What is the perceived impact of interscholastic state activity association athletics expansion at the middle school level on school connectedness factors of grade point average (GPA), attendance, and discipline from the perspective of high school athletic directors?

3. What differences, if any, exist in grade point average (GPA), attendance, and discipline between students participating in middle school intramural athletics and students participating in state-sanctioned interscholastic middle school athletics? $H3_0$: There is no difference in GPA, attendance, and discipline between students participating in middle school intramural athletics and students participating in middle school intramural athletics.

 $H3_a$: There is a difference in GPA, attendance, and discipline between students participating in middle school intramural athletics and students participating in state-sanctioned interscholastic middle school athletics.

Significance of the Study

The MSHSAA (2020b) requires student-athletes in grades seven and eight to be enrolled in a typical course load for their grade. The students cannot fail more than one class in the previous grading period and must have been promoted to a higher grade prior to the first day of school to be eligible (MSHSAA, 2020b). Additionally, students must meet specific citizenship requirements to participate (MSHSAA, 2020b). For example, if a student misses class(es) without being excused by the principal, the student shall not be considered eligible on said date, just as a student who violates a local school policy is ineligible until completion of the prescribed school penalties (MSHSAA, 2020a). These requirements do not apply to intramural sports. When no eligibility requirements are tied to intramurals, sports can take on enough importance for some students to the point they ignore their academic responsibilities (Marsh, 2020).

This study also furthered the research of Kohl (2017), who examined the academic and behavioral impacts of multiple sport participation in high school athletes. While Kohl (2017) researched the effects of participation at the high school level, he did not investigate the impact of participation and school connection for middle school students. The impact of participation and school connection for middle school students is vital, because extracurricular settings are considered meaningful contexts for development in school and the real world (Im et al., 2016).

Delimitations, Limitations, and Assumptions

The scope of the study was bounded by the following delimitations:

Time Frame

Quantitative data for GPA, attendance, and discipline were collected based upon the designated time frame of the school years 2016–2017 through 2019–2020. Qualitative data collected through interviews occurred during the fall semester of the 2020–2021 school year.

Location of the Study

An urban school district in southwest Missouri, comprised of five high schools and nine middle schools, was chosen as the site for this study.

Sample

For the interviews, participants were selected from a population of 16 athletic directors: two district-level athletic directors, five high school athletic directors, and nine middle school athletic directors. Student data comprised of GPA, attendance, and discipline from all district middle school students involved in intramural athletics in 2016–2017 and middle school students participating in interscholastic athletics for the 2017–2018 through 2019–2020 school years were collected and analyzed.

Criteria

Only participants who worked as athletic directors in the chosen district were considered when selecting the sample for interviews, and only student data from participants in district middle school intramural athletics in 2016–2017 and those in interscholastic athletics from 2017–2018 through the 2019–2020 school year were analyzed.

The following limitations were identified in this study:

Sample Demographics

The sample consisted of 13 athletic directors from one school district. Secondary data included the student GPA, attendance, and discipline data from one school district.

Instrument

The instrument was a set of interview questions designed by the researcher, and therefore must be considered a limitation.

The following assumptions were accepted:

1. The responses of the participants were offered honestly and willingly.

2. The sample was representative of the general population of athletic directors

of MSHSAA member schools.

Definition of Key Terms

For the purposes of this study, the following terms were defined:

Interscholastic Athletics and Activities

Interscholastic athletics and activities are sporting or academic competitions between teams or individuals representing their school communities (National Federation of State High School Associations [NFHS], 2019b).

Missouri State High School Activities Association (MSHSAA)

The MSHAAA (2020b) is responsible for the formulation of standards to guide interscholastic athletics and activities in Missouri.

School Connectedness

School connectedness is a belief held by students that adults in school care about their learning and about them as individuals (CDC, 2009). Other common terms in the

literature for school connectedness include school attachment and school belonging, but school connectedness was the primary term used for this study (APA, 2020b).

Summary

The middle school years are crucial for connecting students to schools (Blum, 2005). Few studies have been conducted to investigate the educational benefits of participation in extracurricular activities during middle school (Hughes et al., 2016). The purpose of this study was to examine impact on school connectedness factors via the expansion of middle school interscholastic athletics in a large urban school district in Missouri. The school connectedness factors consisted of GPA, attendance, and discipline incidents.

Marsh's (1993) identification/commitment model served as one of two conceptual frameworks guiding the study. According to Marsh (1993), participating in school athletics benefits both students and schools. The participation-identification model (Finn, 1989) was the other framework utilized in this study. Finn (1989) determined participation in school activities leads to greater identification within the school. This study furthers the previous research of Kohl (2017) by expanding on the impact of school connectedness due to interscholastic competition at the middle school rather than the high school level.

The following chapter includes a review of literature regarding school connectedness. The conceptual frameworks are discussed in more detail. The chapter includes topics relating to school connectedness, such as GPA, absenteeism, and student discipline, as well as the role of state and national athletics associations.

Chapter Two: Review of Literature

Students experience connections through the relational, activity-based, and academic opportunities available to them at school (Gowing & Jackson, 2016). Middle schools provide students the opportunity to become more connected as they transition to high school (O'Donnell, 2020). The positive impacts of increasing connection to school are obvious, including higher GPAs, decreased absenteeism, and increased high school graduation rates (Gerdy, 2014).

Extracurricular activities have long been recognized for playing an important role in the social, emotional, and cognitive development of youth (Bang et al., 2020b). One way to keep students accountable and in school is through school-affiliated sports and activities programs (Byl, 2004; Eccles, 2008; Marsh, 1993; Marsh, 2020; Overman, 2019). School district accountability measures include such items as tracking students' standardized test scores, GPAs, attendance rates, discipline infractions, and persistence to graduation (Lang, 2018; Marsh, 2020).

The GPA is an important indicator because it measures a wide variety of skills and behaviors needed for success (Allensworth & Clark, 2020). Lang (2018) additionally noted, "GPA measures are still used to some extent in nearly all public and private United States secondary schools" (p. 16). Attendance is also a valuable measure, as absenteeism is associated with a multitude of adverse academic outcomes (Jacob & Lovett, 2017). Cuffe et al. (2017) noted:

While the consequences of student absenteeism are not yet well understood in the literature—and seem to not have been considered at all among athletes—there is

evidence supporting that instructional time may itself be an important factor in educational achievement and other outcomes. (p. 1967)

Blum (2005) suggested a greater connection to school promotes positive behaviors and decreases disciplinary actions, including violence, bullying, and vandalism.

A history of school connectedness research is included in the review of the literature, as it forms the foundation of the study. The review of literature also includes information on the role of state and national high school athletics associations, as well as the differences between interscholastic and intramural sports. Finally, the impacts of interscholastic athletics participation on school connectedness factors of GPA, attendance, and discipline are reviewed.

Conceptual Framework

Verhoeven (2019) asserted schools play an important role in an adolescent's identity development. In his identification/commitment model, Marsh (1993) asserted identification with school values is created through sports participation at school. Participation in sports then steers the student to a heightened sense of school commitment in a manner encouraging more identifiable academic and non-academic results (Marsh, 1993). Students are more apt to become engaged at school because they identify with activities that appeal to their interests (Marsh, 2020).

Rubincam (2019) predicted students who participate in sports would have higher grades and educational expectations compared to those who do not. According to Verhoeven et al. (2019), students experience a greater sense of school connection when participating in school-related activities, such as sports, due to the impact of supportive adults and like-minded peers. Identifying with sports or athletics programs allows students to connect with both the school and the greater school community (Furness et al., 2017).

Finn (1989) determined participation in extracurricular activities increased commitment to the school, provided a greater sense of belonging, and decreased the chances of dropping out of school. In addition, Finn (1989) contended students who participate in sports and activities at school seek higher educational attainment compared to non-participants, as they have a more significant commitment to the school and surround themselves with more academically minded peers. Participating in sports programs offers students more chances to create positive relationships with peers, teachers, and coaches (Pantzer et al., 2018).

Connecting kids with schools and keeping them engaged is essential because a loss of engagement can eventually lead to dropping out of school (Finn, 1989). In a 2019 study supporting Finn's (1989) research, participation in school-based athletics and activities reduced the chances of delinquency behaviors, lowered rates of discipline referrals, and decreased withdrawal from school (Chan, 2019). Furthermore, increased atrisk behaviors, absenteeism, and dropping out result in a loss of future employment and increase the chance for poverty among students with low levels of participation and engagement (Gubbels et al., 2019).

Both the identification/commitment and participation-identification models support the idea that school connectedness is increased through sports participation (Finn, 1989; Marsh, 1993). Overman (2019) supported this idea through his research and stated, "The opportunity for students to embed their identity in various extracurricular contexts and to experience multiple competencies facilitates attachment to school and enhances personal adjustment" (p. 14). According to Pantzer et al. (2018), "Extracurricular activities also provide a safe social setting in which students can develop social skills and establish peer-group identification" (p. 664). Students are provided a protected time and safe space to develop their identities at school through extracurricular athletics (Marsh, 2020).

Bohnert et al. (2013) studied the impact of sports participation and peer relationships in students transitioning from eighth to ninth grade. Bohnert et al. (2013) noted students who participate in sports are able to adjust more efficiently by developing more friendships and experiencing fewer depressive symptoms by the end of ninth grade. Gerdy (2014) asserted if extracurricular athletics and activities serve no purpose to the physical and emotional development of students, they would be eliminated from the school system.

Gowing (2019) recognized students with greater feelings of belonging with peers do not experience as many issues at school and achieve better academically than those who do not. Knifsend and Graham (2012) also argued, "A greater sense of belonging at school may promote adolescents' academic motivation, engagement, and achievement" (p. 380). Increasing school connection for middle school students is a difficult task as many activities, clubs, and sports are voluntary and take place outside of the regular school day (Marsh et al., 2019). Eccles (2008) argued middle school students who are not connected to schools are just as likely to disengage from school during the high school years and have higher rates of dropping out. Further supporting Finn's (1989) research, participation in school-based athletics and activities also reduces the chances of delinquency behaviors, receiving discipline referrals, and withdrawing from school (Meyers, 2019).

Policies governing state eligibility requirements strengthen the connection between participation in interscholastic sports and academics (Overman, 2019). Brown (2016) claimed eligibility policies promote increased student focus on academics as they continue to maintain eligibility during their school careers. Zayas (2018) argued longer sports seasons and increased opportunities to work with coaches and sponsors during the school year also strengthen the correlation between sports participation and academics.

School Connectedness

School connectedness is a belief held by students that the adults in school care about their learning and about them as individuals (APA, 2019b; Blum, 2005; CDC, 2009). There has often been confusion regarding the definition, as some researchers have studied school engagement, school attachment, or school bonding, but all of these terms refer to the same idea (Blum, 2005). Pantzer et al. (2018) found there is an increasing interest in connecting students to school and achieving satisfaction with the school experience.

School connectedness has attracted increasing research interest over the past two decades (Gowing, 2019). The idea of school connectedness came to the forefront when it was described in a study as being protective against risk behaviors in adolescence (Resnick et al., 1993). In a similar study, Kim et al. (2020) asserted school connectedness is a protective factor against multiple negative aspects students face in school, including suicide.

According to Blum (2005), school connectedness can have a substantial impact on the measures of student achievement for which schools are currently being held accountable. Blum suggested, "Increasing the number of students connected to school is likely to improve critical accountability measures" (p. 1). Measuring school connectedness is difficult because there is no encompassing standard instrument to obtain results (Marsh et al., 2019).

According to Allen et al. (2018), schools offer rare chances for school-aged children to find where they belong. Yanik (2018) stated, "Engagement of students at school is parallel with their sense of belonging to school" (p. 2) Battistich et al. (2004) recognized, "Connected students appear to be more involved in school, and positive youth activities and less involved in negative behaviors than comparison students during middle school, as well as more of their friends are similarly engaged" (p. 247). Students with low levels of school connectedness struggle with the completion of school work, are absent more often and are at increased risk for school discipline (Marsh et al., 2019). Students who are school-connected are more able to establish their school identity and are more concerned with educational and professional goals (Verhoeven et al., 2019).

Gowing (2019) described young people's relationship with their school as significant and highly influential, as this compulsory feature of their lives shapes the quality of their overall school experience. Crownover and Jones (2018) stated, "Relationships are central to all aspects of human existence. Construction and maintenance of positive teacher-student relationships have implications not only for the regular, unstructured social interactions at school but on academic instruction as well" (p. 19). Organically-created relationships with teachers and peers can lead to an increase in positive school experiences (Pantzer et al., 2018). Students with stronger connections at school have better educational outcomes (Peguero et al., 2016).

School connectedness gives students the courage to succeed, the courage to fail, the courage to face rejection, and, most importantly, to keep trying (Barrow, 2015). Eccles (2008) emphasized students "will be most likely to continue in school and engage fully in learning if they have confidence in their ability to do well and place a high value on doing well in school" (p. 4). Gerdy (2014) recognized a student's engagement with school is better-realized by simply participating in a school-related activity or sport.

According to Crownover and Jones (2018), school connectedness is fostered through an educational system that values students as human beings and increases their involvement in various activities and sports. Zayas (2018) expanded, "Having a sense of belonging and being a part of a team provides students with a core group of friends they can rely on and identify with" (p. 110). Although a myriad of ways exists to promote school connectedness, participation in school activities and sports significantly increases the chances of being connected at school (Kamau et al., 2015).

Students who become more connected to school at an earlier age are at a lower risk of feeling isolated from others (APA, 2019b). Shulkind and Foote (2009) asserted the

importance of fostering a school connection at the middle school level because the roots of alienation take hold during early adolescence. Eccles (2008) explained:

If one has had many failure experiences during the early years of school and one's parents and teachers express low confidence in one's academic abilities, then it is unlikely one will move into secondary school with sufficiently high confidence in one's own academic abilities to overcome the stresses such a transition entails. (p.

4)

When a connection to school is lacking or is in its early stages at the middle school level, it is easy to undermine due to the multitude of challenges faced by middle school students (Loukas et al., 2016).

Facilitating relationships and providing the proper structures allow schools to better create connectedness for students (Shulkind & Foote, 2009). When no such relationships or structures exist, students perceive the number of opportunities to connect and be successful in school to be in decline (Eccles, 2008). Contrasting from the prevailing research, a recent study, Jones et al. (2019) recognized "an association between sport participation and school belonging may be more beneficial for highperforming than low-performing students in an interscholastic policy context" (p. 928). This is concerning, as middle school students have a great need to be accepted and to fit in, especially at school, and will look for outlets to conform when no others exist, including engaging in negative behaviors (Pantzer et al., 2018).

State and National High School Athletics Associations

Before the formation of a state association, many schools formed conferences or leagues and conference agreements governing eligibility and regulations (Pruter, 2013). According to Overman (2019), "Over the course of the twentieth century, comprehensive high schools expanded their curriculum and instituted a range of programs and activities to serve their students. Sports became a major part of the extracurriculum" (p. 9). Illinois was the first state to form a state athletics association when it was founded on December 27, 1900 (Illinois High School Association, 2020).

According to Lang (2018), the first decade of the twentieth century in Missouri saw an increased interest in secondary-school athletics. Missouri, when compared to other states, formed its state athletic association much later (MSHSAA, 2020a). School administrators were concerned about the negative aspects of school sports and sought to create leagues and conferences (Lang, 2018). According to MSHSAA (2020a), these leagues and conferences were organized as a way to "attempt to control abuses creeping into the interscholastic program in Missouri" (para. 6). The Missouri State High School Athletics Association was then created on December 12, 1925, leaving only three other states, excluding Alaska and Hawaii, yet to form state athletic associations (MSHSAA, 2020a).

The NFHS (2019b) noted sports are usually neither extracurricular nor cocurricular except in the United States and Canada. Ironically, the "notion that organized, competitive athletics could be used by schools to supplement educational development of youth originated with a group of English schoolmasters in the 1800s" (Stoll & Beller, 2000, p. 18). Most countries around the world focus on community-based or club sports rather than those attached to schools (Loh, 2019).

The NFHS (2019a), based in Indianapolis, Indiana, has 51 member state associations (including Washington, DC) and serves more than 19,500 high schools and

12 million students (para. 1). Being a member of a professional athletic association gives athletic administrators, coaches, and students access to a number of benefits such as better organization, scholarship opportunities, and access to industry-specific publications (Ohio University, 2020b). The NFHS (2019a) is the national leadership organization for interscholastic sports and performing arts activities in the United States.

The formation of high school associations was initially focused in the Midwest (Pruter, 2013). As high school sports became more popular in the United States during the early 1900s, states began forming governing bodies for high school athletics (Pruter, 2013). The NFHS (2019d) was born out of the need to create eligibility standards for student-athletes in 1920 when it was initially organized as the Mid-West Federation of State High School Athletic Associations.

As more states came on board, the organization changed its name to the National Federation of State High School Athletic Associations in 1923, before dropping the term *Athletic* in 1970 to reflect increasing involvement in fine arts programs (NFHS, 2019d). Balboni (2016) maintained, "As time as progressed sports have become increasingly organized with ever-growing rules and regulations" (pp. 1–2). For over 100 years, the NFHS has been instrumental in writing rules and participation requirements for high school sports and performing art activities (NFHS, 2019d).

Although most requirements have been accepted universally by high schools around the nation, "school administrators are finding themselves spending precious time in court and in the statehouse, defending long-established academic eligibility rules for student-athletes" (Reeves, 2019, Challenging Authority section, para. 4). In addition to writing rules and requirements for eligibility, the NFHS (2019a) also provides educational resources for coaches, officials, students, parents, and performing arts directors. These resources are of great educational value and set high expectations for all involved (Gerdy, 2014).

Middle School Sports

McEwin and Dickinson (2019) recognized the appropriate function of sports in middle schools is a controversial topic for school administrators. Similarly, Armstrong (2016) emphasized the middle school years as critical for sports as student-athletes have greater interactions with coaches and teammates, which can then, in turn, impact physical and emotional development through the rest of their time in school. If schools want sports to make a positive contribution to the development of students during the crucial middle years, it is imperative athletics programs are structured as such (Stoll & Beller, 2000).

In a 2012 study, Knifsend and Graham found it essential for schools to offer a number of extracurricular activities to garner interest from a diverse student population. Pantzer et al. (2018) argued, "Schools are considered one of the most critical organizations for providing youth with the opportunity for and education about the importance of physical activity" (p. 662). Im et al. (2016) emphasized, "Diverse extracurricular activities such as sports, music, and clubs share certain features that distinguish them from many of the adolescent's other contexts" (p. 2). In order to connect more students with school, Marsh (2020) asserted it is important to create a strategic plan to expand athletics at the middle school level. Overman (2019) summarized several empirical studies supporting the sponsorship of extracurricular activities and athletics at the secondary level, beginning with middle school.

Eccles (2008) concluded if academic motivation, school engagement, and academic performance are not strongly established by the conclusion of middle school, persistence to graduation at the high school level is thoroughly compromised. Educationbased athletic programs have become one tool, frequently used by administrators, to create a sense of pride in the community and schools while teaching life-long lessons that ultimately complement educational achievement within the classroom (NFHS, 2019b). Additionally, according to Marsh (2020), athletics programs enrich individuals' lives; thus, they should not only be supported and protected but should also be expanded to meet the diversified needs of students in middle school buildings. These views are also shared by Sherman (2017), who advocated for more athletic programs to increase student participation and school connection.

Wang et al. (2017) reported a decrease in middle school participation rates among both team and individual sports programs. Involvement in school sports during the middle school years can shield many of the negative effects that occur during the transition to middle school (Balboni, 2016). This differs from findings by McEwin and Dickinson (2019) regarding the middle school years as the most dangerous time for youth to participate in organized sports.

According to Yanık (2018), student engagement can be increased at the youth level by drawing more attention to middle school sports participation and its impact on preventing negative behaviors during adolescence. In 2019, Jones et al. suggested it is "especially critical for middle school administrators to consider the development needs of youth during the transitional period between childhood and early adolescence" (p. 9). Furthermore, Eccles (2008) argued, "disengagement from school during the middle school years can lead to a student dropping out in high school, exacerbating the need for student participation in sports and activities during this time" (p. 16). Zayas (2018) advocated for further research on sports participation prior to high school, believing it could provide a broader picture of the types of students who participate at the high school level and beyond. Logan et al. (2020) found students who participated in athletics in middle school tend to participate through high school and are more physically active as adults.

In order to reach as many students as possible in middle school, there should be a combination of intramural and interscholastic sports (Overman, 2019). Byl (2004) declared a balanced athletics program involving intramural and interscholastic sports provides more opportunities for students at a time when their physical and emotional development varies drastically. Middle school students also see increased physical activity benefits when presented with a multitude of intramural and interscholastic athletics offerings (Furness et al., 2017; Gerdy, 2014; Marsh, 2020; Overman, 2019).

Intramural Sports

Between 40 and 50 million youth, high school age and younger, play organized sports each year in the United States (Balboni, 2016). Gerdy (2018) believed athletics should be used to complement the educational opportunities for children while also advancing a school's mission and vision. According to Pantzer et al. (2018), "Participation in intramural sports programs can provide students more opportunities to develop positive peer relationships, enhance self-esteem, create better relationships with teachers, and form a sense of belonging within their teams" (p. 663). Campbell (2004) asserted, "Intramurals provide a healthy complement to the academic aspect of students' education; as with interscholastic sports at their best, participation in intramurals can enhance students' feelings of belonging to the school community" (p. 16). Additionally, Clark wrote:

Intramurals provide cocurricular value by contributing to overall community satisfaction, involvement, and learning within a diverse setting, improving student recruitment and retention by adding to the quality of community life, and creating a venue for social interaction, integration, and leadership activities, which positively affect spirit, mind, and body. (p. ix).

Intramural sports include team and dual/individual activities, tournaments, meets, and/or special events limited to participants and teams from within a specific school or institutional setting (National Association for Sport and Physical Education, 2001).

Even though many students desire to participate in interscholastic sports, they are often excluded because they lack the skill, eligibility, or resources required to participate (Pantzer et al., 2018). Powelson (2015) stated, "students who decide to participate in extracurricular activities enjoy the activity, feel confident in the task, and appreciate the socially supportive environment" (p. 21). According to Overman (2019), "Intramurals are all-inclusive, not restricted to elite athletes, and don't have limited rosters. There are no cuts. Everyone who signs up makes the team, and all are assured of significant and meaningful playing time" (p. 16). Competitive and recreational sports programs are an integral part of the educational process and experience (Clark, 2019).

Colabianchi et al. (2012) observed intramural sports programs provide opportunities for all students to participate in sports, regardless of skill level. Also, Pantzer et al. (2018) determined: Few schools offer intramural programs and most only offer interscholastic sports, which are less inclusive. Students can experience not only physical benefits from intramural participation but also, as the results from this study suggest, improvements in self-esteem, improvements in their ability to socially interact, and feelings of belonging at school. These factors can help make middle schoolers' experiences positive and can contribute to their overall development. (p. 676)

Furness et al. (2017) contended, "Participants obtain skills such as goal setting, teamwork, problem-solving, and leadership" (p. 14). According to Pantzer et al. (2018), the growth of skills such as leadership and teamwork can lead to a more positive school experience as students grow and learn through participation.

McEwin and Dickinson (2019) suggested schools should maintain a balanced approach to physical education, intramural sports, and interscholastic athletics. This observation was reinforced by the National Association for Sports and Physical Education (2001), who noted every student has an opportunity to participate in athletics no matter the physical ability. In a follow-up study, the National Association for Sports and Physical Education (2008) found intramural programs elevate physical activity levels in students when other opportunities may not arise.

While not at the competitive level of interscholastic sports, intramurals provide an opportunity for students to identify activities they enjoy and might engage in the long term (Overman, 2019). Pantzer et al. (2018) explained participating in activities for enjoyment via intramurals can lead to more additional positive experiences in school. Students with lower self-efficacy tend to see more growth than students with higher self-

efficacy when able to participate in activities without the added stress to succeed (Furness et al., 2017).

Traditionally, more boys participate in intramural sports than girls (Colabianchi et al., 2012; Pantzer et al., 2018). Overall participation in sports declines significantly among both boys and girls during their middle school years (Casper et al., 2011). Additionally, Pantzer et al. (2018) noted intramural participation in middle schools is higher among sixth-grade students, as these students are not afforded the opportunity to compete in interscholastic competitions prior to seventh grade. Colabianchi et al. (2012) found middle school students are more apt to participate in intramural sports in higher socioeconomic areas than in lower socioeconomic areas, which contradicts the idea of intramurals being for all students.

Intramural sports do have some costs attached, even though they are more localized than interscholastic sports (Marsh, 2020). Zayas (2018) observed, "Since school budgets are constantly being scrutinized, the impact participation has on students may justify the funding, or lack of funding, for future participation opportunities" (p. 106). While not as expensive as interscholastic sports, according to Overman (2019):

Intramural programs do require money: schools must provide support for staffing, schedules, facilities, and equipment. Directors have to be creative in fundraising and frugal in spending, although parent councils may be willing to sponsor some aspects of the program. School intramural programs may have to compete with interscholastic athletics for the use of facilities and seek out alternative facilities in the community. (p. 18)

Byl (2004) acknowledged a viable way to reduce expenditures is to use the equipment provided in physical education classes. Some school districts charge an activity fee at the beginning of the school year in order to cover the costs of intramural programs (Marsh, 2020).

In addition to budgetary concerns, intramural sports face issues with staffing (Marsh, 2020). As Eccles (2008) noted, "Cost can also be conceptualized in terms of the loss of time and energy for other activities" (p. 20). Scheduling, running clocks, officiating, supervising, and other tasks associated with running intramural sports programs take time (Byl, 2004). Byl (2004) recommended, "To run effective intramurals, it is critical for schools to develop a group of students to help organize and run the program" (p. 25). Zayas (2018) noted another way to assist with staffing and budgetary concerns is to develop relationships within the surrounding community by recruiting parent volunteers and creating partnerships with local businesses.

While students may benefit from participating via intramural sports, researchers need to determine whether intramural participation can benefit middle school students in terms of school connectedness (Pantzer et al., 2018). Jones et al. (2019) suggested intramural sport policies offer additional opportunities to promote school belongingness among the overall student body. According to Jones et al. (2019), "If promoting school belongingness among all students is truly one of the primary aims of school sport, administrators should consider intramural sport as an equally viable approach to interscholastic sport" (p. 9). Logan et al. (2020) also called for further research to determine the benefits of recreational sports participation among students.

Interscholastic Sports

Overman (2019) concluded interscholastic sports are the most popular extracurricular activity for students, particularly team-based sports. Gerdy (2014) explained, "The primary justification for our educational and societal investment in extracurricular activities such as sports is they provide learning and educational benefits and impacts that last a lifetime" (p. 115). Schools are unique settings to provide athletic and performing arts activities, and education-based activities can maximize the benefits gained through sports and performing arts activities (NFHS, 2019d). The University of Missouri (2020) maintained, "Perseverance and goal setting-skills learned through sports are transferred to the classroom" (para. 6). The NFHS (2019b) expanded:

While some of these principles can be learned merely through involvement in these programs, others require the intentional focus of coaches, administrators, and other school leaders. Learning the concepts of sportsmanship, playing by the rules, teamwork, and perseverance will pay huge dividends throughout these students' lives. (para. 9)

The concepts of sportsmanship, following the rules, and teamwork provide a platform for students to be better prepared for life outside of sports (Kerr, 2018).

Merriam-Webster (2019) defined interscholastic sports as those existing or carried on between schools. The NFHS (2019b) stated interscholastic athletics are an extension of the classroom, providing teaching and learning experiences for all involved. According to Gerdy (2014), interscholastic sports contribute to the development of academic and non-academic skills if conducted in a positive and nurturing manner. Bohnert et al. (2013) also claimed interscholastic activities provide a context where adolescents can interact with like-minded peers, potentially proving beneficial in numerous ways. Overman (2019) claimed, "Sports in the context of the school setting most prominently take the form of interschool competition in the nation's middle/junior high and high schools" (p. 19). The association between sports participation and school belongingness is stronger in interscholastic schools compared to intramural schools (Jones et al., 2019).

Overman (2019) asserted four out of five middle schools and 98% of high schools in the United States have interscholastic sports (p. 8). In addition, Overman (2019) noted, "Athletics is the largest non-academic school program in which students participate. Thus, it is crucial that school administrators keep sports in perspective and assure that students' participation in sports constitutes positive learning experiences and promotes personal development" (p. 8). In a 2018 study, Yanık found:

School teams provide students with the opportunity to represent their own schools outside school. Being part of such events outside school makes it possible for students to increase their sense of ownership of the organization that they represent and to make themselves feel more like they belong there. (p. 2)

Stucko (2018) suggested interscholastic sports participation can be used to influence students to achieve academic success while also experiencing other positive consequences such as becoming better school citizens.

Nearly eight million students participated in school-sponsored interscholastic athletics in 2018–2019 (NFHS, 2019b, p. 54). More than a million more boys than girls actively participate in school sports (Overman, 2019, p. 20). Participation in high school sports dropped for the first time in over 30 years (Bogage, 2019, para. 1). However, the percentage of students playing team sports increased for the third consecutive year (Solomon, 2019). Lang (2018). also reported an increase in extracurricular school activities participation nationally.

The data from the NFHS (2019d) show the state of Missouri ranked 17th in participation, with 171,925 male and female participants (p. 55). The number of participants is highest in football for boys and track and field for girls, according to both state and national data (MSHSAA, 2020b; NFHS, 2019d). Researchers have recommended finding more options for females to participate in interscholastic sports (Marsh, 2020).

Interscholastic sports are not without controversy (Yanık, 2018). McEwin and Dickinson (2019) emphasized school administrators have passionately debated over what should be the proper function of interscholastic sports for adolescent youth. Overman (2019) asserted the balance between academics and other responsibilities associated with sports participation (e.g., citizenship) could present a challenge to educators.

Another controversy associated with interscholastic sports is the cost to run a school athletic program (Knifsend & Graham, 2012; Marsh, 2020; Overman, 2019). Yeung (2015) argued, "The fiscal stress on schools and school districts has placed an increasing emphasis on the question of whether high school sports serve as a compliment or substitute for academics in schools" (p. 362). Pruter (2013) claimed, "The very term interscholastic sports inherently poses a contradiction in an educational institution sponsoring sports for high school students, having them play before spectators, charging admission, and financing expensive programs with seemingly no educational purpose" (p.

327). At the middle school level, McEwin and Dickinson (2019) pointed out, "The preponderance of resources is bestowed on the interscholastic program, which serves only a small portion of young adolescents" (Keeping a Balance section, para. 2). Overman (2019) argued funding athletics creates an institutionalized economic bias that affects smaller, rural schools more than larger urban schools.

Additionally, sports specialization is very controversial in the realm of interscholastic sports (Gerdy, 2014). Student-athletes from larger schools are often forced to specialize in one or two sports due to limited roster sizes and greater competition (Bell et al., 2016). Bell et al. (2016) also noted students who specialize in one sport are more prone to overuse injuries. Kohl (2017) indicated as student-athletes decrease multi-sport participation and increase specialization, the greater the chance their GPAs, attendance, and rates of discipline suffer negatively.

Interscholastic Sports Impact on GPA

Previous researchers have associated interscholastic athletics participation with higher GPAs (Finn, 1989; Kohl, 2017; Marsh, 1993; Marsh & Kleitman, 2002; Zayas, 2018). Using student GPAs or test scores as the measure, a significant amount of studies has been carried out investigating the relationship between interscholastic sports and academic achievement (Marsh, 1993; Meyers, 2019; Streb, 2009; Stucko, 2018; Women's Sports Foundation, 2018). Zayas (2018) further supported the relationship between interscholastic sports and academic achievement when he stated, "A large portion of the research conducted on the impact sport participation has investigated the relationship between sport participation and student achievement, as measured by standardized tests and student GPAs" (p. 28). High school student-athletes have been thoroughly documented for years to receive better grades than those not participating in interscholastic athletics (Aspen Institute, 2020; Kohl, 2017; Marsh, 1993).

Coe et al. (2006) examined academic performance and physical activity and found students who participate in some sort of strenuous physical exercise perform 10% better in core subjects than students who do not (p. 1518). Specifically, Coe et al. (2006) observed a majority of the students who report a higher level of physical activity are involved in interscholastic team sports such as basketball, football, and soccer. Cuffe et al. (2017) realized students' transcripts suggest continual participation in athletics shows up in educational improvements—the longer an athletic season continues, the better the student-athlete performs academically.

The Women's Sports Foundation (2018) also discovered students who participate in multiple interscholastic sports are more likely to receive an A or A- grade than those who do not participate. Lang (2018) reported an increase in student GPA when the student is involved in more than one sport. This coincided with the findings of Kohl (2017) and Zayas (2018), who similarly found multi-sport student-athletes have higher GPAs compared to single-sport or non-participating students.

Streb (2009) researched the impact of extracurricular sports on academic achievement and found participants have higher GPAs and ACT scores than nonparticipants. Through the use of longitudinal data for students in grades 8–12, Streb's (2009) study included a sample of 492 graduates from a large high school in the Midwest (p. 9). Similarly, Wretman (2017) reported higher academic performance among students competing in interscholastic athletics than those not participating. While many studies show the positive impact of interscholastic sports on GPAs, there has been rising concern regarding students who participate in interscholastic sports and do not perform well academically (Yarkwah & Agyei, 2020). Bishop (2018) concluded, "Playing a sport is something that requires many hours of practice and dedication which can take away from their studies" (para. 1). Powelson (2015) also specified:

Students may assign sports a higher priority than academics because of this influence on their decision-making or may prefer sport to academics because of enjoyment, popularity, health, or fitness, and may be challenged by a lack of time or family influences. (p. 4)

Pestana et al. (2018) also found evidence of sports being prioritized over academics, resulting in a loss of interest in learning and time dedicated to studies.

Interscholastic Sports Impact on Attendance

School attendance is required for student-athletes to participate in interscholastic activities (MSHSAA, 2020a). Cuffe et al. (2017) reaffirmed, "Sports in school tend to bundle participation with human-capital investments: to participate, the student must maintain minimum attendance, for example, and show up for classes, particularly on game days" (p. 1967). Member schools can often set more stringent policies than what is required by the state association (MSHSAA, 2020a). For example, in North Carolina, state attendance rules recommend students be in attendance on the day of competition, but one school has made attendance mandatory to compete (North Carolina High School Athletics Association, 2020; Wake County Public School System, 2020).

Extracurricular activity participation has been positively linked with increased attendance (Morris, 2016). According to Cuffe et al. (2017), "Indeed, with daily student-level records of attendance, we find that active, athletic participation in high school reduces absenteeism, with truancy reductions as the primary mechanism" (p. 1984). The North Carolina High School Athletics Association (2017) contended participating in athletics missed an average of 6.3 days of school per year as compared to students who did not participate, who average 11.9 missed days per year (para. 10). Moreover, the Minnesota State High School League observed students participating in interscholastic athletics miss an average of 7.4 days of school in a year, while those who do not participate average 8.8 days missed (Born, 2007).

Kohl's (2017) study of multi-sport participation yielded findings to confirm student-athletes have fewer school absences as measured by hours than students who do not participate. In fact, the more sports a student engages in, the greater the chance the student will attend school more regularly (Kohl, 2017; Zayas, 2018). Based on the findings of Cuffe et al. (2017), students participating in athletics are usually the same students with higher attendance. As students are at school more often, they are provided with more opportunities to further their school connectedness (Gowing, 2019; Gowing & Jackson, 2016). Similarly, Eccles (2008) determined improved school attendance can be achieved as a greater sense of bonding with school is created through participation in sports or school activities and clubs. A more recent study by Gubbels et al. (2019) also found students with better support systems provided by school connections are less likely to be at-risk for absenteeism or dropout.

Interscholastic Sports Impact on Discipline

Students with higher discipline rates tend to miss more instructional time, are exposed to negative influences more often, and are more apt to drop out of school (Noltemeyer et al., 2015). Latimore et al. (2018) maintained school discipline could negatively affect the educational outcomes of students. Overman (2019) asserted, "It is reasonable to believe that participation in most extracurricular activities has some effect on student behavior" (p. 14). Sadik and Ozturk (2018) noted, "Disciplinary problems or unwanted behaviors are behaviors that affect teaching and learning, make it difficult to achieve success, or impede success" (p. 730). In a study by Baumann and Krskova (2016), lower discipline rates coincided with better academic achievement and contributed to everyday school operations to operate more effectively.

A 2020 study by Froehlich identified a positive relationship between high school athletics participation and academic success, including lower rates of discipline for student-athletes. Ohio University (2020a) backed up the findings of Froehlich (2020) in a study which found interscholastic athletics participation at the secondary resulted in fewer discipline incidents. Participation in interscholastic athletics teaches valuable lessons and promotes positive citizenship behavior (Garcia & Subia, 2019). Valuable leadership and self-management skills developed through interscholastic athletics allow students to be more self-disciplined in both academic and non-academic situations (Yeung, 2015).

Student-athletes are inclined to be more invested in school and maintain eligibility by performing well at school and not receiving school discipline, which may endanger their playing time (Pestana et al., 2018). Supporting secondary school students through school sports programs is likely to have a positive effect on their academic achievement (Bang et al., 2020a). Umeh et al. (2020) reported students who receive school discipline are less likely to participate in school clubs, activities, and athletics.

The North Carolina High School Athletics Association (2001) found significant differences among students in terms of discipline referrals, with 33% of athletes receiving referrals compared to 41.8% of non-athletes (para. 11). In a 2018 study by Zayas, students participating in athletics were more likely to display positive prosocial behaviors and characteristics than those not participating. Similarly, Kohl (2017) identified lower rates of discipline as student-athletes increased their rates of participation.

When researching sports participation and juvenile delinquency, Spruit et al. (2016) determined no significant differences in discipline between students who participate in sports and those who do not. The findings of Spruit et al. (2016) agreed with the findings of Rubincam (2019), who also found no significant differences in school discipline between students who participated in interscholastic athletics compared to students who do not participate. Latimore et al. (2018) conveyed lower rates of discipline for white students involved in athletics, but results were mixed in regards to minority students. Spruit et al. (2016) contradicted the findings of Kohl (2017) and Zayas (2018), who found sports participation results in fewer discipline referrals and a reduction in classroom time lost, especially as students participate in multiple sports.

Summary

School connectedness research came to prominence during the end of the twentieth century (Resnick et al., 1998). Many other terms have been used for school connectedness, such as school engagement, school attachment, or school bonding, but all of these terms refer to the same idea (Blum, 2005). Creating a greater sense of school connectedness is vital for student success (APA, 2019b; Blum, 2005; Gowing, 2019; Gowing & Jackson, 2016; Kamau et al., 2015).

According to several researchers, one way to accomplish connecting more students to school is through participation in interscholastic sports, which provides many benefits, including achieving better in the classroom as measured by GPA, higher rates of school attendance, and lower risk for school discipline (Bohnert et al., 2013, Finn, 1989; Garcia & Subia, 2019; Marsh, 1993; Marsh & Kleitman, 2002). While most researchers have agreed participation results in increased academic achievement and attendance, findings are mixed with regard to discipline and interscholastic sports participation (Kohl, 2017; Spruit et al., 2016).

Intramural athletics allow students to participate in a less-competitive environment (Gerdy, 2014; Overman, 2019; Zayas, 2018). Middle school students are more likely to participate in intramural athletics than any other group (Pantzer et al., 2018). Intramural athletics provide many of the same benefits as interscholastic sports, but research is mixed on their effects (Byl, 2004; Gerdy, 2014; Marsh, 2020; Overman, 2019).

Also discussed in Chapter Two were the histories of state and national sports federations. Illinois was the first state with a state athletics association in 1900 (Illinois High School Association, 2020). Missouri did not create its own association until 1925 (MSHSAA, 2020a). The NFHS, located in Indianapolis, IN, has members from all 50 states as well as the District of Columbia and provides guidance and rules for its members (NFHS, 2019a). In Chapter Three, information is provided related to the design and methodology of the study. The processes of the creation of the research questions, selection of the population and sample, and the instrumentation are discussed in detail. Finally, an explanation is provided of the processes for the collection and analysis of data as well as the ethical considerations.

Chapter Three: Methodology

Problem and Purpose Overview

The purpose of this study was to determine the impact of middle school interscholastic athletics expansion on school connectedness in a large urban school district in Missouri. The urban school district, comprised of five high schools and nine middle schools, was chosen as the site for this study because the district expanded MSHSAA-sanctioned athletics at the middle school level prior to the 2017–2018 school year (District Information, 2019). Middle schools were chosen, because connecting students to school is especially crucial during the adolescent years (Sudlow et al., 2019). Blum (2005) emphasized the importance of school connectedness during these years, because "by the time they are in high school, as many as 40 to 60 percent of all students— urban, suburban and rural—are chronically disengaged from school" (p. 4).

The impact of the expansion on school connectedness was analyzed through interviews with district athletic directors as well as analysis of publicly available and requested secondary data including GPA, attendance, and discipline incidents to determine if there is a significant difference in these school connectedness factors based upon participation in interscholastic athletics. Participation in extracurricular activities has been linked to desirable student outcomes such as increased GPA, illustrating the need to build connectedness to school (Sudlow et al., 2019). The middle school years are important for developing healthy study habits, embracing learning, and valuing the importance of grades during this time of transition (O'Donnell, 2020).

Increased student connection to school promotes improved school attendance (Blum, 2005). School connectedness is also a robust protective factor to decrease school

40

absenteeism (Healthy Schools Campaign, 2016). Student attendance affects school progress, and poor attendance can lead to failure to graduate (National Collaborative on Education and Health, 2015).

An analysis of discipline incidents provides insight into school connectedness, as there is a strong correlation between the number of suspensions a student experiences and academic engagement (González et al., 2019). Additionally, connection to school and positive relationships with teachers can prevent or reduce adolescents' involvement in risk behaviors (Garcia-Moya et al., 2019). Longobardi et al. (2016) found lower rates of school misconduct associated with higher levels of student connectedness to school through relationships with teachers.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The following research questions and hypotheses guided the study:

1. What is the perceived impact of interscholastic state activity association athletics expansion at the middle school level on school connectedness factors of grade point average (GPA), attendance, and discipline from the perspective of middle school athletic directors?

2. What is the perceived impact of interscholastic state activity association athletics expansion at the middle school level on school connectedness factors of grade point average (GPA), attendance, and discipline from the perspective of high school athletic directors?

3. What differences, if any, exist in grade point average (GPA), attendance, and discipline between students participating in middle school intramural athletics and students participating in state-sanctioned interscholastic middle school athletics?

 $H3_0$: There is no difference in GPA, attendance, and discipline between students participating in middle school intramural athletics and students participating in state-sanctioned interscholastic middle school athletics.

 $H3_{a:}$ There is a difference in GPA, attendance, and discipline between students participating in middle school intramural athletics and students participating in state-sanctioned interscholastic middle school athletics.

Research Design

The methodology for this study was a mixed-method design. The mixed-method design provides a realistic link between quantitative and qualitative studies (Almalki, 2016). The value in mixed design studies "accrues from both qualitative findings and quantitative results, and the integration of the two in a thoughtful way leads to greater mining of the data and enhanced insights" (Levitt et al., 2018, p. 43). Interviews with district and site-level athletic directors were conducted in-person, via telephone, or via video chat. The interviews were recorded and transcribed to provide for the collection of qualitative data. Publicly reported secondary district student GPA, attendance, and discipline data were collected for the quantitative portion of the study to analyze the impact of interscholastic sports participation on school connectedness.

Population and Sample

The qualitative analysis included interviewing athletic directors at each level within the school district regarding their perceptions of the impact of interscholastic athletics expansion at the middle school level on school connectedness factors of GPA, attendance, and discipline. The population considered for this study consisted of 16 athletic directors: two athletic directors at the district level, one at each of the five high

schools, and one at each of the nine middle schools. The sample was comprised of 13 athletic directors (two district athletic administrators, four of the five high school athletic directors, and seven of the nine middle school athletic directors).

In qualitative research, having a sample size as little as 10 can be extremely fruitful and still yield applicable results (Shetty, 2018). The interview participants were selected using purposeful sampling. Purposeful sampling is "a nonrandom technique that does not need underlying theories or a set number of participants" (Etikan et al., 2016, p. 2). Additionally, to best answer the clearly articulated research questions, sampling decisions should be purposeful (Luciani et al., 2019).

The quantitative population of the study included attendance, GPA, and discipline incident data for all district middle school students involved in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and for middle school students participating in interscholastic athletics for the 2017–2018 through 2019–2020 school years. The interscholastic sports used for the study included boys and girls basketball, boys and girls cross country, boys and girls track and field, 11-man football, sideline cheerleading, girls volleyball, and wrestling. A census method was used for this portion of the study, as all members of the population were counted (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The total number of middle school students and the total number of students who participated in intramural or interscholastic sports are presented in Table 1.

Table 1

School Year	Intramurals	Interscholastic	Student Population
2016-2017	2,539	-	5,390
2017-2018	-	1,534	5,441
2018-2019	-	1,520	5,514
2019-2020	-	1,505	5,590

Middle School Intramural and Interscholastic Sports Participants

Instrumentation

A research instrument is a tool used to collect, measure, and analyze data (Duquesne University, 2020). The survey instrument utilized, consisting of a set of interview questions, was created by the researcher (see Appendix A). The interview questions for this study were designed to elicit the perceptions of athletic directors about the effect of interscholastic and intramural sports participation on the school connectedness factors of GPA, attendance, and discipline. The frameworks of Marsh (1993) and Finn (1989) were also considered in the development of the interview questions.

Interview question one was designed to obtain information from the athletic directors about their perceptions of the effect of interscholastic athletics on GPA compared to students who participated in intramural athletics. According to Easton et al. (2017), "Grades reflect multiple factors valued by teachers, and it is this multidimensional quality making grades good predictors of important outcomes" (p. 1). Interview question two was created to gather perceptions of the effect of interscholastic athletics on attendance compared to students who participated in intramural athletics. Students are often more successful academically because of less time lost academically (Christensen et al., 2019). Kohl (2017) believed the more students participate in sports, the better their rates of attendance will be.

Interview question three was designed to examine the athletic directors' perceptions of the effect of interscholastic athletics on discipline compared to students who participated in intramural athletics. Student-athletes tend to have fewer discipline problems and usually graduate from high school (NFHS, 2019c). Students participating in sports tend to avoid discipline issues, especially during the season (Marsh, 2020).

Interview questions four, five, and six were designed to gather perceptions of student school connectedness since the shift was made from intramural athletics to statesanctioned interscholastic athletics at the middle school level. A student's sense of belonging within the academic community has been shown to be an indicator of academic success (Zabriskie et al., 2018). Implementing programs to promote school connectedness has a considerable impact on academic success (Lemkin et al., 2018).

The researcher-created instrument was initially developed through a series of edits between the researcher and the dissertation chair. The interview questions were pilottested in a mock interview session with a high school principal, a middle school principal, and a high school athletic director from non-participating school districts to ensure the questions were clear and easily understood. According to Ruel et al. (2016), pilot-testing allows researchers to ensure all questions are clearly articulated, relevant, and comprehensive for both the researcher and the respondents. Pilot-testing for interviews is integral and useful in the process of conducting qualitative research as it is helpful in improving the interview processes (Majid et al., 2017).

Data Collection

To collect data for this study, a permission letter to participate was sent to the district superintendent (see Appendix B). Approval was granted by the school district on March 20, 2020. Lindenwood University Institutional Review Board approval was granted on September 18, 2020 (see Appendix C). After receiving approval from the Institutional Review Board, the interview participants were recruited by contacting the publicly-listed, primary telephone number for the school district athletics office. Afterward, the athletic directors were contacted via email, which included the interview questions and a copy of the research information sheet (see Appendix D).

An attempt was made to reach the entire population of 16 athletic directors. 13 athletic directors responded to be interviewed. The interviews were conducted in person, via telephone, or via video chat. All interviews were recorded and then transcribed for further analysis.

Publicly available secondary student data regarding GPA, attendance, and discipline were obtained from the district for quantitative analysis. Publicly released data were collected through district annual reports (District Information, 2019). Data not publicly available were requested and granted through district data request procedures. Once collected, the data were organized for comparison between students who participated in intramural sports in 2016–2017 and students who competed in interscholastic sports from 2017–2018 through 2019–2020.

Data Analysis

For the qualitative portion of the study, an interview instrument created by the researcher was utilized. Qualitative data were collected and transcribed, and open coding

was used to discover prevalent themes. Open coding is the part of data analysis focused on the conceptualization and categorization of phenomena through an intensive analysis of the data (Vollstedt & Rezat, 2019). After the initial open coding process, axial coding was used. Axial coding develops "a category by grouping/sorting/reducing the number of codes generated from the first cycle of coding" (Onwuegbuzie et al., 2016, p. 134).

The quantitative portion of the study consisted of the collection and analysis of GPA, attendance, and discipline data of middle school students involved in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year, and middle school students who participated in interscholastic athletics from the 2017–2018 through 2019–2020 school years. The comparison of two independent population means is very common and provides a way to test the hypothesis that the two groups differ from each other (Holmes et al., 2017). Independent *t*-tests were conducted to determine if there were significant differences in GPA, attendance, and discipline incidents of students who participated in intramural activities compared to students who participated in MSHSAA-sanctioned events. The *t*-test is used to test the difference between two independent samples (Bluman, 2018). The level of significance for the study was set at 95% with an alpha level of 0.05.

Ethical Considerations

Safeguards were in place to protect participant confidentiality and to maintain anonymity. Each participant received a copy of the Research Study Consent Form explaining the purpose of the study and any associated risks.

Confidentiality

The researcher did not and will not share any identifying information in any publication or presentation. Any information collected was stored by the researcher in a secure location. The only people who viewed the data were members of the research team, qualified staff of Lindenwood University, and representatives of state or federal agencies.

Anonymity

Approximations or slight modifications were utilized when discussing identifiable statistics regarding specific schools. Non-identifying pseudonyms were assigned to the participants and the participating school district to avoid identification. Before interviews began, participants were advised comments made could lead to identification, regardless of approximations and modifications utilized. Once interviews were transcribed, the results were sent to the participants to review for accuracy and clarity and to provide an opportunity for questions.

Summary

The purpose of this study was to determine the impact of middle school interscholastic athletics expansion in a large urban school district in Missouri. The methodology of this study was a mixed-methods design, as both qualitative and quantitative data were analyzed. Purposeful sampling was selected as an appropriate method to identify participants, because they are able to answer the clearly articulated interview questions (Etikan et al., 2016; Luciani et al., 2019).

Qualitative data were collected and transcribed, and the responses were coded to discover prevalent themes. Quantitative data were obtained from publicly available data from the urban school district. A census method was used for the quantitative portion of the study, as all middle school students who participated in interscholastic sports during the 2016–2017 school year and those who participated in interscholastic athletics from

2017–2018 through 2019–2020 were counted. To determine if there were significant differences in GPA, attendance, and discipline incidents among students who participated in intramural activities and students who participated in MSHSAA-sanctioned events, independent *t*-tests were conducted. Ethical considerations were presented regarding confidentiality and anonymity both during and after this study.

Chapter Four includes a presentation of the data collected. The qualitative data are related to research questions one and two. The quantitative data for research question three conclude the chapter.

Chapter Four: Analysis of Data

The purpose of this study was to determine the impact of middle school interscholastic athletics expansion on school connectedness in a large urban school district in Missouri. Connecting students to school via extracurricular activities is a factor in reducing negative behaviors in adolescence (CDC, 2009). Extracurricular activities have the potential to create additional opportunities of connecting with school for students who need it most (Berger et al., 2020). Students' academic success increases as they become more connected to school through extracurricular activities (Wilson, 2018).

This research was completed via a mixed-method methodology. According to Regnault et al. (2017), "Mixed-methods research allows a research question to be studied from different perspectives" (p. 2). This mixed-method approach included interview data for the qualitative portion of the study and secondary GPA, attendance, and discipline incident data from the selected district for the quantitative portion of the study.

The qualitative data were collected through interviews of two district athletic directors, four high school athletic directors, and seven middle school athletic directors. Participants were interviewed, and responses were recorded digitally. After the interviews were completed, recordings from the interviews were transcribed. Open coding was used multiple times to label similar words and phrases in the transcripts to organize them into broad thematic domains (Williams & Moser, 2019). Once the open coding was complete, the data were sorted using axial coding to organize the transcripts into distinct themes (Williams & Moser, 2019). The data collected are presented in Chapter Four.

Research Question One and Two

To investigate the perceptions of athletic directors regarding the impact of state activity association athletics expansion on school connectedness at the middle school level, interviews were conducted to address the first and second research questions of the study. The interview participants included two district athletic directors, four high school athletic directors, and seven middle school athletic directors from a large, urban school district in Missouri. The athletic directors were selected using purposeful sampling.

Interview participants were asked six questions regarding perceptions of the impact of state-sanctioned interscholastic athletics expansion on school connectedness as measured by GPA, attendance, and discipline rates. Interviews lasted approximately 15–30 minutes. Participants were assigned alphanumeric codes to ensure anonymity for the district and personnel. For example, participants from the middle schools were referred to as Participant MS1 through Participant MS7. High school participants were assigned a number code corresponding from Participant HS1 through Participant HS1 by D1 and Participant D2. Data regarding the perceived impact of interscholastic athletics expansion on school connectedness of GPA, attendance, and discipline by all interview participants are presented in Table 2.

Table 2

Participant	Higher	Increased	Decreased
Name	GPA	Attendance	Discipline
MS1	Y	Y	Y
MS2	Ν	Y	Ν
MS3	Ν	Y	Y
MS4	Y	Y	Y
MS5	Y	Y	Y
MS6	Y	Y	Ν
MS7	Ν	Y	Ν
HS1	Y	Y	Y
HS2	Y	Y	Y
HS3	Y	Y	Y
HS4	Y	Y	Y
D1	Y	Y	Y
D2	Y	Y	Y

Perceived Impact of Interscholastic Athletics on School Connectedness

Participant Interview Question One

Do students who participate in interscholastic athletics have better GPAs than students who participate in intramural athletics at the middle school level? Why or why not?

Four out of seven middle school interview participants expressed belief that students participating in interscholastic athletics have better GPAs than students participating in intramural athletics at the middle school level. According to Participant MS1, one reason is because of the emphasis on being a student-athlete. Participant MS1 added, "When they know it takes a certain level to participate, they rise to that occasion. One reason they have grades is so they can be held accountable." Additionally, Participant MS7 and Participant MS5 responded GPAs are higher under the interscholastic model because the "extra accountability leads to a better team atmosphere."

There were, however, three middle school interview participants who were not convinced the interscholastic model had an impact on GPA. Participant MS3 provided the following context:

I don't think it necessarily makes a difference. If they don't have a parent pushing them to make As and Bs, they don't care. They do just what they have to do to get by at the middle school level because they know they're not going to be held back.

According to Participant MS2, "Students must now conform to the MSHSAA standards, and a lot of schools don't have to at middle school. With intramurals, we could let anyone participate. I don't think it matters one way or the other." Participant MS6 was also unsure whether or not there is a difference in GPA between students participating in intramural athletics or interscholastic athletics because "different students have different motivators."

High school athletic directors all agreed regarding the impact of interscholastic sports participation on GPA. Participant HS2 noted the MSHSAA requirement regarding minimum GPAs or credits earned is black and white, which leads to interscholastic participants having higher GPAs. Participant HS1 explained, "There is a GPA requirement, along with our credit requirement, for them to meet in order to keep eligibility. Sometimes there has to be that dangling carrot for them to accomplish that goal." Similarly, Participant HS3 noted, "Overall, I would say they do have a higher GPA if they are participating in interscholastic athletic as compared to those who are not or are competing at the intramural level."

At the district level, both interview participants felt as though involvement in athletics is a strong factor in keeping students connected to school. Participant D1 explained, "I do not know that we have compared students that are feeding in now with MSHSAA compared to intramurals. I think the involvement, whether it is intramurals or MSHSAA, is the critical component." Additionally, the district interview participants perceived the data would show GPAs being similar regardless of the athletics model in which students participate. Participant D2 asserted, "I would probably side on the fact that there is not a positive correlation between athletics or activities versus the intramural. I would think they would probably read pretty closely to the same."

Participant Interview Question Two

Do students who participate in interscholastic athletics have better attendance than students who participate in intramural athletics at the middle school level? Why or why not?

All middle school interview participants agreed students participating in interscholastic athletics have better attendance than those participating in intramurals at the middle school level, but reasons varied. Similar to interview question one, Participant MS5 and Participant MS7 perceived student-athletes having higher attendance because they were doing it for a greater cause, which was the team aspect. Participant MS7 specified, "Not letting down one's teammate is a good motivator for participation." Participant MS5 further explained, "The kids who want to be here are going to be here. They're going to find a way to be at school so they can be a part of this team." Participant MS2 also agreed, "Coaches hold their players accountable, and teachers lean on those coaches to make sure that their kids that have an attendance problem get going."

High school interview participants were unanimous in their assessment that students participating in interscholastic athletics have better attendance at the middle school level than those who participate in intramural athletics. Participant HS2 mentioned, "There is the MSHSAA piece that ties in with being present on the day of a contest. And I think that is the thing that is hanging over their head." Furthermore, the high school interview participants suggested middle schools being under the rules set by the MSHSAA increases attendance among athletes. According to Participant HS3, "There are coaches who are monitoring them being in school. I think that has contributed quite a bit to those kids who had lower attendance rates." Participant HS4 added, "You would think that their attendance would be better. There is some connection to school when they are there, especially during the season when they go to practice, go to games, etc."

Both district-level athletic directors had similar views regarding student-athlete attendance being higher for participants than their non-participating peers. Participant D2 expanded on the importance of connecting students to school athletics and activities regarding student attendance:

I think what matters is the relationships with the coach and sport. Kids will attend things where they feel like a coach cares about them, or they feel like a person will miss them if they're not there. This is where an organized sport could have a greater impact. I think you could make that connection. Participant D1 added, "As kids are more engaged, the more apt they are to come to school and further their involvement." Participant D1 noted it was more about being engaged at school overall rather than the type of athletic program.

Participant Interview Question Three

Do students who participate in interscholastic athletics have fewer discipline incidents than students who participate in intramural athletics at the middle school level? Why or why not?

Middle school interview participants were mixed in responses regarding discipline incidents. While they agreed students involved in athletics have fewer discipline incidents, there was disagreement as to whether or not there was a difference between intramural and interscholastic athletic participants. Participant MS4 stated, "We are able to handle discipline a little differently in athletics and try to handle a lot of issues in the classroom or at practice. It depends on the student." Participant MS1 has introduced more stringent measures beyond what is required by MSHSAA. According to Participant MS1, "If a student is suspended out of school, they are off the team and finished for the season. We start by letting our kids know they have one opportunity to get it right."

Participant MS3 shared, "I do think it helps discipline. I think there are fewer referrals just because there are consequences if they are in trouble, such as not playing. I do think students are impacted positively in this aspect." Similarly, Participant MS4 explained athletes have "more hanging over their head" regarding participation and discipline, but had not noticed a difference between intramural and interscholastic athletic participants.

High school interview participants agreed middle school students involved in athletics are impacted positively regarding discipline. According to Participant HS3, student-athletes at the high school level are now coming in prepared for the MSHSAA requirements and behave accordingly to prevent loss of eligibility after having requirements at the middle school level. This sentiment was furthered by Participant HS4: "I think most schools have some sort of a citizenship agreement that the kids are required to sign and adhere to, and have since middle school." Participant HS1 shared this view but also had an additional reason why discipline might be impacted positively regardless of the program:

I used to teach at a middle school building, and if the kid was acting out in class, rather than go through the process of writing a referral or making anything formal, I would let their coach know and handle it at practice. They did not want to get in trouble with their coach. That connection matters.

Much like Participant HS1, Participant HS2 believed the connection to the team "keeps students out of trouble" and helps maintain eligibility.

Similar to their responses to interview question two, district-level participants responded it is the connection to the team, coach, or both that impacts discipline. Participant D2 suggested, "Just like with attendance, the people in control of the programs are the reason kids come and participate. When that connection is there, most things take care of themselves." Participant D1 felt students behave better, especially during their respective sports seasons, because they have a relationship with various individuals on the team.

Participant Interview Question Four

Do you see more school connectedness with participating students since the shift was made from intramural athletics to state-sanctioned interscholastic athletics at the middle school level? Please explain your response.

Five middle school interview participants commented the shift to the interscholastic model from intramurals was positive in its impact on students. For example, according to Participant MS1, interscholastic athletics "helps give students a sense of being connected with their peers." Another positive, according to Participant MS1, is the opportunity to further connect students to school through "the relationships with teachers and our coaches." Participant MS3 responded:

I work really hard at having a team atmosphere and unity and loyalty to your team and building each other up. With so many kids with borderline mental health issues and family issues I feel like that because we have more opportunities now to build on the team aspect. Being part of the team is almost like a little second family.

Participant MS4 added, "When we went to the MSHSAA model, we brought on more sports, and that has contributed to the fact that there are more kids connected." Participant MS6 commented, "I think our kids are finding that we are having success playing these equal opponents now. I think that is turning more students to participate and be a part of our programs."

Two middle school interview participants had views differing from their peers. Participant MS7 said, "I do not think I would see a difference. We had a little bit better system for the kids before the MSHSAA expansion, because we could control it." Participant MS2 mentioned new problems resulted from the shift, such as competition for facility usage, the overlapping of seasons, and some students getting rundown due to not having any time off between seasons.

High school interview participants perceived students are more connected to school because of the shift to interscholastic athletics. Participant HS3 elaborated, "I would say there has been an improvement for students transitioning from middle school and high school as far as students being connected to school." Participant HS2 also explained students are more connected, because "these kids now have some sort of idea of what is expected and what they need to do [to stay eligible]." Similarly, Participant HS4 asserted the student body is more educated on what they need to do to be eligible, and it is keeping more kids connected.

District-level interview participants were positive in their views of the impact of interscholastic athletics expansion on school connectedness at the middle school level. As Participant D2 stated, "We're going to start to do things a little bit differently than in the past and connect students in that way to our schools." Participant D1 agreed and mentioned by changing the way things are done, students can now have more opportunities in the future to engage and connect with school. Data regarding the perceptions of student school connectedness are presented in Table 3.

Table 3

Douticipant	More/Less	
Participant	Connectedness	
MS1	More	
MS2	Less	
MS3	More	
MS4	More	
MS5	Less	
MS6	More	
MS7	More	
HS1	More	
HS2	More	
HS3	More	
HS4	More	
D1	More	
D2	More	

Perception of Student School Connectedness After Shifting to Interscholastic Athletics

Participant Interview Question Five

Do you see any other benefits of interscholastic athletics associated with school connectedness that have not been mentioned? If so, please explain.

Middle school interview participants mentioned many benefits of interscholastic athletics associated with school connectedness outside of GPA, attendance, and discipline. School pride was mentioned by all middle school interview participants as a benefit. Participant MS1 mentioned, "There is school pride with athletics that we are starting to see more, and that is very important." The views of Participant MS7 were very similar to those of Participant MS1. Participant MS7 responded, "I just think about pride in the school, and that's something that we always talked about. You are also representing our community and our school." Participant MS5 also viewed the expansion as a benefit for a reason other than school pride. Specifically, Participant MS5 asserted, "They are going places they have never been to and seeing schools they would not normally have, which is really great for our kids to see so many different schools at events." Participant MS6 was also in agreement the "opportunity for students to compete against different towns and schools" is a benefit of the expansion of interscholastic athletics at the middle school level.

School pride was also mentioned frequently by the high school interview participants. Participant HS2 emphasized there is "a greater sense of school pride because these student-athletes have bought into the process both physically and mentally, which strengthens the bond to the greater school community." Participant HS4 expanded on the importance of school pride by stating, "School pride allows for a greater connection both in the school community and greater community itself. We try to make participation in athletics and activities a big deal for everyone."

District interview participants also mentioned school pride as a major benefit of the shift to interscholastic athletics. According to Participant D1, "I think it is creating school pride because they are competing against people outside of their city that probably did not exist prior to the expansion." Participant D2 explained the expansion has benefitted students in the district, because it allows them to see and do things many have not done before. Participant D2 stated, "Many of our students never leave their neighborhood, let alone the city. This is a big deal that many take for granted." Both district-level participants also believed more students can benefit from the interscholastic model as the programs continue to grow. The most frequent responses for interview question five are presented in Table 4.

Most Common Perceived Benefits of Interscholastic Athletics Expansion on School

Perceived Benefit	Frequency of Responses	
School Pride	11	
Better Competition	8	
Family Atmosphere	6	
Mentor/Role Model	5	
Travel Out of City	5	

Connectedness Factors

Participant Interview Question Six

Do you see any negatives effects on school connectedness from middle school sports shifting from intramurals to an interscholastic model sanctioned by MSHSAA? In other words, are there any benefits intramural sports provide that interscholastic sports do not? Please explain your response.

A majority of the middle school interview participants reported they like the new model, but with a few caveats. Participant MS7 described "having more control" in the old model. Participant MS7 continued, "We could do what we felt was best for our student populations because we had more flexibility." Participant MS6 explained how the intramural model provides more freedom for schools:

You could play as many games as you like. You could have an A team, a B team, and a C team, for example, in basketball and volleyball. We offered more activities, such as soccer and archery. You can really have a lot of freedom to do what you want, which you cannot do with the MSHSAA model. Similarly, Participant MS3 enjoyed being able to have more local control via the intramural program, because "we didn't have the constraints of MSHSAA on our programs." Participant MS3 explained, "We did not have to worry about things like transfer students sitting out due to waiting on paperwork. Kids could play immediately, and that does not happen with MSHSAA because of their guidelines." Participant MS4 also said the flexibility of intramurals is positive, because seasons are not set as they are with the MSHSAA. According to Participant MS4, students are faced with hard choices such as "choosing one sport over the other," because there is no flexibility with the MSHSAA calendar.

Each of the high school interview participants responded the intramural model is beneficial because more students can participate, but the model also does not provide enough for athletes to compete at the high school level. According to Participant HS1, "It is basically like a participation trophy. We should be prepping these kids for high school, and it should be a little more intense." Participant HS3 noted, "Once students got to high school, many faced a harsh reality of getting cut from a team because they were measured by their athletic talents rather than their desire to participate." Similarly, Participant HS4 responded, "I want all kids to be able to play, but high school is a different level. Our sports are MSHSAA-sanctioned, and the rules are the rules."

District interview participants were very clear in their responses and understood the merits of both models. Participant D2 stated:

It is a lot easier to get a teacher to stay and work a clock if the game is at 3:45 when school gets out at 3:30. Management-wise, I feel like it's easier when it's an

63

intramural or an inner-city program. That's not the best thing for the kids. The

best thing for our kids is to experience that outside-of-district competition.

Participant D1 reflected on the benefits of the intramural model by stating, "We could create some rules as we went, which provided some more flexibility." Ultimately, according to Participant D1, the district "had to go to the MSHSAA model because we had such a diverse skill level of competition and capabilities among our middle school programs."

While both agreed intramurals and interscholastic athletics models are good for students in general, the interscholastic model was determined the best for the district as it includes more competition around the state. According to Participant D2, "The goal is not to be the best in the city anymore. The goal is to be the best in the state." The most frequent responses for interview question six are presented in Table 5.

Table 5

Most Common Perceived Negatives of Interscholastic Athletics Expansion on School Connectedness

Perceived Benefit	Frequency of Responses	
Fewer Participants	9	
Less Flexibility/More Rules	7	
Fewer Options	5	

Research Question Three

To answer research question three, independent sample *t*-tests were conducted to determine if there were significant differences in GPA, attendance, and discipline

incidents between students who participated in intramural athletics and those who participated in interscholastic athletics. Student GPA was measured using a four-point scale, attendance was measured by average attendance percentage, and discipline was measured by number of incidents per student. An independent sample *t*-test was conducted for all interscholastic student-athlete GPA, attendance, and discipline incidents for each school year from 2017–2018 through 2019–2020 and then compared to the data of all student-athletes who competed in intramurals during the 2016–2017 school year. After, the same comparisons were disaggregated and analyzed by gender.

GPA

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in GPA between all students who participated in intramural athletics in 2016–2017 and all students who participated in interscholastic athletics in 2017–2018. With α set at .05, a value of p = .666 was reported. Therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected, and it was concluded there was not a statistically significant difference in GPA between the two groups (see Table 6).

Table 6

Comparison of Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic Athletics

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	1,554	3.12	.559	.666
Intramurals	2,539	3.12	.628	

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in GPA between male students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and male students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2017–2018 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = .223 was reported. Therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected, and it was concluded there was not a statistically significant difference in GPA between the two groups (see Table 7).

Table 7

Comparison of Male Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic Athletics (2017–2018)

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	820	3.06	.570	.223
Intramurals	1,416	3.08	.734	
		<u> </u>		

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in GPA between female students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and female students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2017–2018 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = .107 was reported. Therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected, and it was concluded there was not a statistically significant difference in GPA between the two groups (see Table 8).

Comparison of Female Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic Athletics (2017–2018)

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	734	3.17	.541	.107
Intramurals	1,123	3.14	.577	
		0 -		

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in GPA between all students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and all students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2018–2019 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = .356 was reported. Therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected, and it was concluded there was not a statistically significant difference in attendance between the two groups (see Table 9).

Table 9

Comparison of Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic Athletics (2018–2019)

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	1,505	3.12	.541	.356
Intramurals	2,539	3.12	.628	
	• •	05		

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in GPA between male students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and male students who participated in interscholastic athletics during

the 2018–2019 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = .470 was reported. Therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected, and it was concluded there was not a statistically significant difference in GPA between the two groups (see Table 10).

Table 10

Comparison of Male Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic Athletics (2018–2019)

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	786	3.09	.556	.470
Intramurals	1,416	3.08	.734	
March Chatlant and all all and	f:	05		

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in GPA between female students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and female students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2018–2019 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = .390 was reported. Therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected, and it was concluded there was not a statistically significant difference in GPA between the two groups (see Table 11).

Table 11

Comparison of Female Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic

Athletics ((2018–2019)
-------------	-------------

Group	N	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	734	3.15	.524	.390
Intramurals	1,123	3.14	.577	

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in GPA between all students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and all students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2019–2020 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = .368 was reported. Therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected, and it was concluded there was not a statistically significant difference in GPA between the two groups (see Table 12).

Table 12

Comparison of Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic Athletics

(2019–2020)

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	1,505	3.13	2.07	.368
Intramurals	2,539	3.12	.628	
N. G	• •	0 .		

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in GPA between male students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and male students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2019–2020 school year. With α set at .05, a value of *p* = .056 was reported. Therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected, and it was concluded there was not a statistically significant difference in GPA between the two groups (see Table 13).

Comparison of Male Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	809	3.13	.521	.056
Intramurals	1,416	3.08	.734	
	• •	o -		

Athletics (2019–2020)

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in GPA between female students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and female students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2019–2020 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = .346 was reported. Therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected, and it was concluded there was not a statistically significant difference in GPA between the two groups (see Table 14).

Table 14

Comparison of Female Student GPA in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic Athletics (2019–2020)

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	696	3.13	.577	.346
Intramurals	1,123	3.14	.516	
	• • • •	0 7		

Attendance

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in attendance between all students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and all students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2017–2018 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = <.001 was reported. The mean of the interscholastic group was significantly higher than the mean of the intramural group. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, and it was concluded there was a statistically significant difference in attendance between the two groups (see Table 15).

Table 15

Comparison of Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic Athletics (2017–2018)

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	1,554	96.61	1.87	<.001
Intramurals	2,539	93.83	6.18	

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in attendance between male students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and male students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2017–2018 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = <.001 was reported. The mean of the interscholastic group was significantly higher than the mean of the intramural group. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, and it was concluded there was a statistically significant difference in attendance between the two groups (see Table 16).

Comparison of Male Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic Athletics (2017–2018)

Group	N	M	SD	p
Interscholastic	820	96.58	2.03	<.001
Intramurals	1,416	92.65	5.89	

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in attendance between female students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and female students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2017–2018 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = <.001 was reported. The mean of the interscholastic group was significantly higher than the mean of the intramural group. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, and it was concluded there was a statistically significant difference in attendance between the two groups (see Table 17).

Table 17

Comparison of Female Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and

Interscholastic Athletics (2017–2018)

Group	N	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	734	96.64	1.66	<.001
Intramurals	1,123	95.31	6.21	

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in attendance between all students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and all students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2018–2019 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = <.001 was reported. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, and it was concluded there was a statistically significant difference in attendance between the two groups (see Table 18).

Table 18

Comparison of Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic Athletics (2018–2019)

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	1,521	96.24	2.07	<.001
Intramurals	2,539	93.83	6.18	
M (C) (1) .	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	. 05		

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in attendance between male students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and male students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2018–2019 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = <.001 was reported. The mean of the interscholastic group was significantly higher than the mean of the intramural group. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, and it was concluded there was a statistically significant difference in attendance between the two groups (see Table 19).

Comparison of Male Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic

Athletics	(2018–2019)
-----------	-------------

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	786	96.90	1.76	<.001
Intramurals	1,416	92.65	5.89	
		o =		

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in attendance between female students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and female students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2018–2019 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = <.001 was reported. The mean of the interscholastic group was significantly higher than the mean of the intramural group. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, and it was concluded there was a statistically significant difference in attendance between the two groups (see Table 20).

Table 20

Comparison of Female Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and

Interscholastic Athletics (2018–2019)

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	734	96.30	1.60	<.001
Intramurals	1,123	95.31	6.21	

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in attendance between all students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and all students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2019–2020 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = <.001 was reported. The mean of the interscholastic group was significantly higher than the mean of the intramural group. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, and it was concluded there was a statistically significant difference in attendance between the two groups (see Table 21).

Table 21

Comparison of Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic Athletics (2019–2020)

Group	N	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	1,505	96.24	2.07	<.001
Intramurals	2,539	93.83	6.18	

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in attendance between male students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and male students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2019–2020 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = <.001 was reported. The mean of the interscholastic group was significantly higher than the mean of the intramural group. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, and it was concluded there was a statistically significant difference in attendance between the two groups (see Table 22).

Comparison of Male Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	809	96.18	2.18	<.001
Intramurals	1,416	92.65	5.89	

Athletics (2019–2020)

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in attendance between female students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and female students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2019–2020 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = <.001 was reported. The mean of the interscholastic group was significantly higher than the mean of the intramural group. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, and it was concluded there was a statistically significant difference in attendance between the two groups (see Table 23).

Table 23

Comparison of Female Student Attendance in Intramurals (2016-2017) and

Interscholastic Athletics (2019–2020)

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Intramurals	696	96.31	1.93	<.001
Interscholastic	1,123	95.31	6.20	

Discipline

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in discipline incidents between all students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and all students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2017–2018 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = .013 was reported. The mean of the interscholastic group was significantly higher than the mean of the intramural group. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, and it was concluded there was a statistically significant difference in discipline incidents between the two groups (see Table 24).

Table 24

Comparison of Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic Athletics (2017–2018)

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	1,505	.414	.732	.013
Intramurals	2,539	.362	.731	

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in discipline incidents between male students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and male students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2017–2018 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = .018 was reported. The mean of the interscholastic group was significantly higher than the mean of the intramural group. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, and it was concluded there

was a statistically significant difference in discipline incidents between the two groups (see Table 25).

Table 25

Comparison of Male Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic Athletics (2017–2018)

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	820	.453	.774	.018
Intramurals	1,416	.386	.700	

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in discipline incidents between female students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and female students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2017–2018 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = .130 was reported. Therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected, and it was concluded there was not a statistically significant difference in discipline incidents between the two groups (see Table 26).

Table 26

Comparison of Female Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and

Interscholastic Athletics (2017–2018)

Group	N	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	734	.371	.680	.130
Intramurals	1,123	.331	.767	

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in discipline incidents between all students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and all students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2018–2019 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = .003. was reported. The mean of the interscholastic group was significantly higher than the mean of the intramural group. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, and it was concluded there was a statistically significant difference in discipline incidents between the two groups (see Table 27).

Table 27

Comparison of Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic Athletics (2018–2019)

Group	N	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	1,521	.422	.654	.003
Intramurals	2,539	.361	.731	

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in discipline incidents between male students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and male students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2018–2019 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = .025 was reported. The mean of the intramural group was significantly higher than the mean of the interscholastic group. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, and it was concluded there was a statistically significant difference in discipline incidents between the two groups (see Table 28).

Comparison of Male Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	786	.044	.666	.025
Intramurals	1,416	.386	.700	

Athletics (2018–2019)

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in discipline incidents between female students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and female students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2018–2019 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = .026 was reported. The mean of the interscholastic group was significantly higher than the mean of the intramural group. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, and it was concluded there was a statistically significant difference in discipline incidents between the two groups (see Table 29).

Table 29

Comparison of Female Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic Athletics (2018–2019)

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	734	.398	.642	.026
Intramurals	1,123	.331	.767	

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in discipline between all students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and all students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2019–2020 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = .057 was reported. Therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected, and it was concluded there was not a statistically significant difference in attendance between the two groups (see Table 30).

Table 30

Comparison of Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic Athletics (2019–2020)

Group	Ν	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	1505	.400	.768	.057
Intramurals	2539	.361	.731	

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in discipline incidents between male students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and male students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2019–2020 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = .078 was reported. Therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected, and it was concluded there was not a statistically significant difference in discipline incidents between the two groups (see Table 31).

Comparison of Male Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and Interscholastic

			52	P
Interscholastic	809	.431	.755	.078
Intramurals	1,416	.386	.700	

Athletics (2019–2020)

Note. Statistical significance is noted at p < .05.

An independent sample *t*-test was conducted to test for significant differences in discipline incidents between female students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and female students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2019–2020 school year. With α set at .05, a value of p = .183 was reported. Therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected, and it was concluded there was not a statistically significant difference in discipline incidents between the two groups (see Table 32).

Table 32

Comparison of Female Student Discipline in Intramurals (2016-2017) and

Interscholastic Athletics (2019–2020)

Group	N	М	SD	р
Interscholastic	696	.365	.782	.183
Intramurals	1,123	.331	.767	

Summary

In Chapter Four, the data collected as part of this mixed-methodology study were presented. The qualitative data presented in this chapter were comprised of interview data collected from seven middle school athletic directors, four high school athletic directors, and two district athletic directors from a large urban school district in Missouri. The interview responses were recorded and transcribed, and representative excerpts were presented in Chapter Four. The interview responses were analyzed to develop major themes and findings reported in Chapter Five.

The quantitative portion of the study was designed to determine the impact of middle school interscholastic athletics expansion on school connectedness after the district shifted from an intramural athletics model to a state-sanctioned interscholastic model. School connectedness was measured by comparing GPA, attendance, and discipline incident data between all students who played intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and all students who competed in interscholastic athletics in school years 2017–2018 through 2019–2020. The data were then used to compare GPA, attendance, and discipline incidents between students who played intramural athletics in 2016–2017 and students who competed in interscholastic athletics in 2016–2017 and students who competed in interscholastic athletics in 2016–2017 and students who competed in interscholastic athletics in school years 2017–2020 by gender. The quantitative data were reported in tables.

Chapter Five includes the findings from the data and an explanation of athletic director perceptions of the impact of interscholastic athletics expansion at the middle school level on school connectedness factors of GPA, attendance, and discipline. Major themes developed from the interview responses are presented in the conclusions section.

83

Also presented in Chapter Five are implications for practice and recommendations for future research.

Chapter Five: Summary and Conclusions

This mixed-methods study was conducted to examine the impact of the expansion of middle school state-sanctioned interscholastic athletics on school connectedness in a large urban school district in Missouri. Quantitative data were collected in the form of secondary data, including GPA, attendance, and discipline incidents of students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and students who participated in interscholastic athletics for each year during the 2017–2018 through 2019–2020 school years. Interview participants included middle school, high school, and district-level athletic directors. During the interviews, participants discussed their perceptions of the impact of middle school state-sanctioned interscholastic athletic expansion on school connectedness.

In this chapter, the findings from the research questions are presented. Detailed are the conclusions and implications for practice. Finally, recommendations for future research are presented.

Findings

The findings were based on analyzing both qualitative and quantitative data. Research questions one and two were utilized to analyze the qualitative data. Research question three was utilized to analyze the quantitative data. The findings are then separated into four sections: GPA, attendance, discipline, and school connectedness. Instead of reporting the qualitative and quantitative findings separately, each is discussed within the four sections.

Research Question One

What is the perceived impact of interscholastic state activity association athletics expansion at the middle school level on school connectedness factors of grade point average (GPA), attendance, and discipline from the perspective of middle school athletic directors?

Research Question Two

What is the perceived impact of interscholastic state activity association athletics expansion at the middle school level on school connectedness factors of grade point average (GPA), attendance, and discipline from the perspective of high school athletic directors?

The data for the qualitative portion of the study were collected via interviews of athletic directors at the middle school, high school, and district levels. Research questions one and two were developed to examine the perceptions of athletic directors regarding the impact of interscholastic athletics expansion at the middle school level on school connectedness. The participants were interviewed, and their responses were recorded on a digital recorder.

After interviews were completed, the recordings were transcribed. The written transcriptions were then coded using open coding, during which "the researcher needs to sift through informant's responses and organize similar words and phrases, conceptindicators, in broad initial thematic domains" (Williams & Moser, 2019, p. 4). Once the open coding was complete, axial coding was used to identify the relationship between the open codes and to develop themes from the participant responses.

Research Question Three

What differences, if any, exist in grade point average (GPA), attendance, and discipline between students participating in middle school intramural athletics and students participating in state-sanctioned interscholastic middle school athletics?

Data for the quantitative portion included secondary data in the form of GPA, attendance, and discipline incidents for students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and students who participated in interscholastic athletics each year during the 2017–2018 through 2019–2020 school years. Quantitative data were collected from publicly available district data through a district data acquisition request. The sports used for participant data included boys and girls basketball, boys and girls cross country, boys and girls track and field, football, sideline cheerleading, volleyball, and wrestling. The data were organized into an Excel spreadsheet and analyzed using independent sample *t*-tests to determine whether there was a significant difference among the groups overall for each year and further disaggregated by gender.

GPA. An analysis of the qualitative data indicated GPA is impacted positively by participating in athletics regardless of the model. This coincides with past literature associating interscholastic sports participation with higher GPAs (Marsh, 1993; Meyers, 2019). All high school interview participants perceived students participating in interscholastic athletics as having higher GPAs than those participating in intramural athletics. Five out of seven middle school interview participants also perceived students participating in interscholastic athletics as having higher GPAs than those participants also perceived students participating in interscholastic athletics.

87

Coe (2006) recognized high school athletes have better grades on average than students who do not participate. Several participants also reported student GPAs are impacted positively the more sports students play throughout the year. The more interscholastic sport seasons students participate, the greater the academic impact on GPA (Kohl, 2017; Marsh, 1993, 2020; Zayas, 2018).

Interestingly, significant differences were not found in the quantitative data between the two groups each year when analyzing GPA, both overall and by gender. Although this does not support the majority of perceptions of the interview participants, it is not unfounded based on past literature. Yarkwah and Agyei (2020) reported students who are participating in athletics are beginning to see a decline in academic performance. Furthermore, students participating in interscholastic athletics may place more importance on the sport rather than academics (Bishop, 2018; Pestana, 2018; Powelson, 2015).

Attendance. Student attendance was found to be impacted positively by participating in interscholastic athletics in both the qualitative and quantitative data. Interview participants at the middle, high, and district levels were unanimous in their perceptions regarding students who participate in interscholastic athletics having better attendance than those who participate in intramural athletics. Gowing (2019) reported as students attend school more often due to athletics participation, the greater the chance students will be more connected to the school. Several participants also reported student attendance is positively impacted because there is greater motivation to attend school. This finding backs the 2017 study by Cuffe et al., which noted students participating in athletics are more likely to attend school. Each of the *t*-tests conducted for attendance showed a significant difference between students who participated in interscholastic athletics and those who competed in intramural athletics, both overall and by gender, as students participating in intramural athletics demonstrated higher rates of attendance. This supports the findings of Morris (2016), positively linking extracurricular athletics participation with higher attendance. The Minnesota State High School League also reported student-athletes having higher rates of attendance than non-athletes, as further evidence to back up the findings of this study (as cited in Born, 2007).

Discipline. Student discipline was impacted positively by interscholastic athletics after an analysis of the qualitative data. Nearly all middle school interview respondents cited the value of behavior requirements for student-athletes to participate in interscholastic athletics. The majority of high school interview participants also perceived students who participate in interscholastic athletics are more likely to experience less discipline than those who participate in intramural athletics. These perceptions are supported by previous research by Overman (2019), who found student behavior is positively affected by participation in extracurricular activities.

Significant differences in discipline were found overall for the 2017–2018 and 2018–2019 school years compared to students who participated in intramurals during the 2016–2017 school year. There was a significant difference in discipline between male students who participated in interscholastic athletics in 2017–2018 and 2018–2019 and male students who participated in intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year, where students participating in intramural athletics demonstrated higher rates of discipline. There was also a significant difference in discipline between female students

who participated in interscholastic athletics during 2018–2019 and students who competed in intramural athletics during 2016–2017, where students participating in intramural athletics demonstrated higher rates of discipline.

None of the *t*-tests conducted for discipline revealed a significant difference between students who participated in interscholastic athletics during the 2019–2020 school year, both overall and by gender, and students who participated in intramural athletics during 2016–2017. The inconsistency of these findings is not unfounded, as the literature suggested the effects of interscholastic sports participation are mixed regarding discipline (Byl, 2004; Kohl, 2017; Overman, 2019; Spruit et al., 2019).

School Connectedness. Students participating in interscholastic athletics experience more school connectedness than students participating in intramural athletics as measured by the qualitative and quantitative data. Gowing (2019) stated the increased connection of a student to school is based upon athletics participation. Students who are more connected to school via athletics participation tend to value the importance of the school and are less likely to drop out (Baumann & Krskova, 2016; Eccles, 2008; Noltemeyer et al., 2015). Middle school and district-level interview participants reported a greater sense of school pride is developed as athletes compete outside the district and the city. In addition, the experience developed through interscholastic competition better prepares student-athletes for the rigors and requirements of high school athletics, according to the perceptions of high school interview participants.

Conclusions

The following conclusions were formulated based upon triangulation of the data collected from the review of literature, the qualitative data collected via athletic director

interviews, and quantitative data from publicly available district data and data received through a district data request. Triangulation of the data is a method of employing multiple sources of data in an effort to draw conclusions and validate the findings within a study (Boudah, 2020; Johnson & Christensen, 2020).

Athletics Participation Positively Impacts GPA

Interview participants from all three levels discussed the value of interscholastic sports participation with regard to GPA. Grade point average is a valuable measure of student success and can predict many outcomes (Marsh & Kleitman, 2002). Students who participate in interscholastic athletics are more likely to receive better grades than those who do not participate (Aspen Institute, 2020; Coe et al., 2006; Stucko, 2018; Women's Sports Foundation, 2018).

During the interviews, a majority of participants perceived higher GPAs for students who compete in interscholastic athletics compared to those who compete in intramural athletics. Marsh (1993) asserted participation in athletics allows students to prioritize and promote academic outcomes, including grades. Participants consistently reported the eligibility requirements set forth by the MSHSAA as a major factor in higher GPAs. The NFHS (2019a) suggested eligibility requirements allow for schools to be further involved in the education of student-athletes.

High school interview participants all asserted students who participate in interscholastic athletics have higher GPAs than students who participate in intramural athletics. These participants reported student-athletes are better-conditioned to perform than non-participating peers. They also explained being part of the team GPA motivates students who participate in interscholastic athletics to succeed academically. Nearly all interview participants agreed the impact of interscholastic athletics participation on GPA is greater the more often students participate throughout the year, which supported previous research (Knifsend & Graham, 2012; Kohl, 2017; Marsh, 1993; Zayas, 2018). Interview participants from all three levels recognized the value of continued participation throughout the school year on GPA. Participant MS1 viewed the amount of participation as having a significant impact on student success in the classroom because students always know what is expected of them. Participant HS3 suggested incoming freshmen are more prepared for the rigors of high school the more they participate in athletics at the middle school level. When students are more committed to school through participation, they are more likely to achieve academic success (Finn, 1989; Gowing, 2019).

Not all participants believed the type of athletics model mattered when it came to the impact of participation on GPA. Four interview participants believed student GPA was impacted positively simply by participating because students were required to maintain a GPA similar to the MSHSAA standards. An analysis of the quantitative data did not show a significant difference between students who participated in interscholastic athletics and those who participated in intramural athletics. However, all groups had mean GPAs over 3.0 on a 4-point scale, indicating a positive impact on athletics participation. Previous research by Clark (2019) and Gerdy (2014) has demonstrated students participating in either intramural or interscholastic athletics, or a combination of both, achieving better GPAs than students who are not participating.

Interscholastic Athletics Participation Positively Impacts Attendance

The positive impact of interscholastic athletics activity on attendance was a prevalent theme during the interviews. According to the MSHSAA (2020a), attendance is required for student-athletes to participate in interscholastic contests. Members are afforded the ability to make even more stringent policies regarding attendance (MSHSAA, 2020a; NFHS 2019a). Gowing (2019) declared the more students are at school, the greater their opportunity to become connected to school.

Finn (1989) recommended keeping students engaged in school to decrease the risk of dropping out. One way to keep students engaged is through participation in athletics (Finn, 1989; Marsh, 1993). All middle school interview participants reported attendance is impacted positively through interscholastic sports participation. Participants MS5 and MS7 perceived student-athlete attendance as being better because of commitment to the team. Participant MS7 stated, "They do not want to let down their teammates, and they do not want to be let down." For some students, Participant MS3 noted the team is the closest thing to a family setting they will experience, which keeps the kids coming back to school each day.

All high school interview participants emphasized student-athlete attendance is positively impacted by the shift to interscholastic athletics. Participant HS1 explained, "They have to be here the day of to participate. They have to be at practice to participate in a game. It makes more sense and is easier for athletes to attend than not." Both Participants HS3 and HS4 reported student-athletes have more accountability because their attendance is monitored each day by the attendance office, individual teachers, and the respective coaching staff of each sport in which students are participating. District interview participants identified the higher rates of attendance of studentathletes as a reflection of the leadership of each sport. Gowing (2019) asserted a key relationship with an adult at school strengthens the bond between student and school. Participant D2 explained time spent with an educational leader who values their time and success will keep students coming back each day. According to Participant D1, students are better served by being engaged at school than not having anything organized to do after school. Participant D1 added, "The more they are engaged, the more they are with an educational leader who can mentor and inspire them." Shulkind and Foote (2009) reported school connection is increased when structures are in place to allow for more easily facilitated relationships between students and adults at school.

The quantitative data also provided evidence as students who participate in interscholastic athletics as having higher rates of attendance than those who participated in intramural athletics. Students with higher rates of attendance experience more school connection and are less at-risk for adverse behaviors (Barrow, 2015; CDC, 2009; Gowing, 2019). Additionally, students who attend school more have more opportunities to connect with school as well as create bonding opportunities with educational leaders who provide stability and a safe environment to grow (Cuffe, 2017; Eccles, 2008; Gowing & Jackson, 2016). Based on the results of the qualitative and quantitative portions of this study, along with a review of the literature, it was concluded attendance is impacted positively through participation in interscholastic athletics.

Interscholastic Athletics Participation Positively Impacts Discipline

Various researchers have agreed decreased school discipline is a sign of students with greater school connectedness (APA, 2019b; Blum, 2005; Resnick et al., 1993).

Sadik and Ozturk (2018) found classroom operations are severely impacted by unwanted behaviors and disciplinary incidents. According to Garcia and Subia (2019), participation in interscholastic athletics reduces unwanted behaviors and promotes citizenship. Additionally, Meyers (2019) argued participation in interscholastic athletics reduces the chance of students receiving discipline referrals.

Nearly all interview participants agreed the interscholastic model impacts student discipline positively. Middle school interview participants were all in agreement athletics participation reduces discipline but were undecided if it is due to the type of athletics program. Participant MS4 reported, "Students do not want to get into trouble so they can play." Participant MS1 added, "Our athletes know from day one that discipline will determine their playing fate quicker than anything." Other participants noted student-athletes have a lot to lose through school discipline and often avoid getting into trouble.

Multiple high school interview participants also noted incoming freshmen are transitioning to high school with fewer discipline issues within the student-athlete population. Participants HS3 and HS4 clarified the commitment to citizenship requirements has been instilled in their heads since middle school. According to Participant HS1, "There is no excuse for not knowing what is acceptable in regards to behavior. These kids know how to behave and what is expected to participate." Participant HS2 also elaborated that when students know their actions have consequences for themselves and their team, it carries more weight than it would otherwise.

When conducting district-level athletic director interviews, both participants explained their views on athletics participation and discipline. Participants D1 and D2 recognized when students are connected to a team or a coach, their discipline issues decrease. According to Participant D1, students do not want to let others down, which leads to greater accountability. Participant D2 suggested most discipline issues take care of themselves or are non-existent when the connection between student and team or student and coach is strong.

The quantitative data supported students who participate in interscholastic athletics as having lower rates of discipline than students who participated in intramural athletics. As students are part of an athletic team with additional requirement for eligibility, the need to conform to the values of the team makes students less likely to get into trouble at school (Marsh, 1993). Each of the years studied showed a significant difference in discipline between interscholastic and intramural participants, with the exception of the 2019-2020 school year. Although there were no significant differences for the 2019-2020 school year, it was concluded discipline is positively impacted as based on previous years' data, perceptions of interview participants, and a review of the literature.

Students Participating in Interscholastic Athletics Experience More School

Connectedness

Interest in school connectedness research has increased over the last two decades (Gowing, 2019). Students with low levels of school connectedness are more likely to struggle with grades, attendance, and discipline (Marsh et al., 2019). When students are more connected to school via participation in athletics, they are better prepared for success in the future (Barrow, 2015; Kamau et al., 2015).

Several middle school interview participants stated increased school pride is a result of students experiencing more school connectedness due to the shift from an

intramural athletics model to an interscholastic model. These participants shared they have witnessed students exhibiting more pride for their school than prior to the shift to an interscholastic model. According to Sudlow et al. (2019), school pride is fostered through positive and emotional connections to the school. Participant MS3 discussed the transformation of an athletics program that had sparsely attended games to one that is filled with members of the community cheering for their school. Participant MS7 stressed the importance that students are now representing not only their schools but the greater community.

High school and district interview participants also discussed school pride as a way students are more connected to schools since the shift to an interscholastic athletics model. Participants HS2 and HS4 noted the majority of the students coming through the system have bought into the athletics program since middle school in terms of time, effort, and even money. Participant HS3 mentioned, "These students are playing for the name on the front of the jersey." Participant HS1 noted the community takes pride in the school, and the athletes like to repay that pride when representing the school on and off the court. According to Participant D1, there is "more motivation to succeed and represent where they came from" through competition, which has led to an increase in school pride.

School connectedness for this study was measured quantitatively by the perceptions of athletic directors at the middle school, high school, district levels. School connectedness was measured as well via analyzing GPA, attendance, and discipline data for students who participated in interscholastic athletics compared to those who participated in intramural athletics. Combined with a review of the literature, it was concluded students participating in interscholastic athletics experience more school connectedness than students participating in intramural athletics. Students who participate in interscholastic athletics are more apt to be school connected as they exhibit higher GPAs, greater rates of attendance, and lower rates of discipline than their peers who participate in intramurals or do not participate (Kohl, 2017; Overman, 2019; Zayas, 2018).

Implications for Practice

School connectedness research has focused largely on improving the quality of relationships of students and their engagement with school (Blum, 2005; Gowing, 2019; Gowing & Jackson, 2019). Greater student engagement with peers and educational leaders prior to the secondary years allows for the organic creation of relationships and an increase in positive school experiences (Pantzer et al., 2018). Knifsend and Graham (2012) argued connecting students with school at a younger age allows for a better transition through the secondary school years. Additionally, Gerdy (2014) recognized school connectedness can be increased via the relationships created through participation in school-sponsored athletics, both at the intramural and interscholastic levels. Clark (2019) also believed competitive and recreational athletics participation is an integral part of the educational experience, and students are able to better grow when more opportunities are provided.

Provide Both Intramural and Interscholastic Athletic Programs

One way to ensure all students have a chance to participate in athletics and maintain a healthy lifestyle is to implement both an intramural and an interscholastic athletic program at the middle and high school levels. According to Haddix (2016), the key to successful athletic programs is to keep the focus on the students and helping them become successful. For students to be more school connected, an emphasis must be placed on the value of participating in athletics, whether in an intramural or interscholastic model. Kamau et al. (2015) noted participation in school activities and sports increases the chances of being connected at school. According to Jones et al. (2019), schools with both types of athletic programs offer additional opportunities to promote school belongingness among the overall student body.

Providing a combination of both athletics models allows for districts to connect more students to school, especially at the middle school level. The National Association for Sports and Physical Education (2008) recommended intramurals for middle school students. Providing intramurals at the middle school level can be very successful as students are less mobile (i.e., cannot drive). Overman (2019) noted high schools should seek a balance in sports and offer both intramurals and interscholastic athletics. Intramurals compliment interscholastic athletics and can enhance school connectedness because intramurals are all-inclusive (Campbell, 2004).

Having a combination of intramural and interscholastic athletics programs also allows for more sports in which students can compete. Not every sport in a district athletic program is state-sanctioned, which then allows for a less competitive program to be created so students can participate. This can be used as a platform to participate in interscholastic athletics in the future or to continue the activity leisurely throughout their lifetime.

Former intramural sports, such as archery or esports, have now become recognized as emerging activities under the MSHSAA umbrella (MSHSAA, 2020b).

These activities allow students as young as sixth grade to compete, which provides an opportunity for students transitioning to middle school to participate sooner in athletics in a lower-stakes environment. Additionally, districts can now implement these activities at the elementary level in an intramural structure while providing the foundations of the requirements needed to compete at the secondary level. Schools must support students by providing them with the necessary resources to participate in programs, reducing outside stressors, and creating an environment where students can engage without fear (Barrow, 2015).

Overall, the research from this study has shown students have a greater school connection when participating in interscholastic athletics. Students who are not able to participate in interscholastic athletics can still reap many of the same benefits when participating in intramural athletics, such as better grades, increased attendance, and lower rates of discipline. With both athletics programs being offered, students are able to experience athletics at the level that best suits their needs and wants while maintaining a high level of school connectedness.

Increase the Number of Extracurricular Offerings

In addition to implementing both interscholastic and intramural athletics programs at schools, increasing the number of extracurricular offerings will allow students to have more opportunities to connect to schools and like-minded peers. Kozub and Samalot-Rivera (2020) argued there is still work to be done to provide more opportunities for all students. As the number of offerings increases, so does the number of students who can access these offerings. Additional extracurricular offerings could include academic activities such as speech and debate, theater, and music programs. Many schools also offer student clubs where they can find more commitment and bonding to their schools in an environment where they are comfortable and supported.

Bowles and Scull (2019) attributed increased opportunities to connect with school leads to a decrease in time available to be exposed to negative factors (i.e., drugs, criminal groups) outside of school. This reinforces the research of Marsh (1993) who stated a student's increased identification within a school leads to greater commitment. The CDC (2009) also believed students will continue to become more connected to schools as they are supported by inclusive school environments and curricula, which include extracurricular activities.

Connect Students at an Earlier Age

Another implication for practice is to connect students to school at an earlier age as they are transitioning to secondary school. Programs connecting students to school at an earlier age will allow for students to be more connected as they transition through the different levels of school, as evidenced by the increased levels of school connection of middle school students participating in interscholastic athletics. According to a majority of the interview participants, earlier school connection builds school pride and greater commitment to the school. Increasing the number of students who are more connected to schools at an earlier age would assist schools in reducing the number of risk factors leading to student disengagement.

As previous research has shown, students are transitioning to the secondary level, disconnected from school and at-risk of being alienated from their peers (Knifsend et al., 2018). Resnick et al. (1993) noted school connectedness is developed in order to protect against risk factors in adolescence. Knifsend and Graham (2012) noted students are better served the earlier they are connected to school. Adolescents who enter middle school with elevated levels of adjustment problems may be at a disadvantage in developing a connection to the school because they are more likely than their peers to report conflictual relationships with teachers (Doumen et al., 2008).

Students who become more connected to school at an earlier age are at a lower risk of feeling isolated from others (APA, 2019b). Crownover and Jones (2018) argued increasing involvement in various activities and sports provides younger students with opportunities to become more connected at school. Loukas et al. (2016) reported it is of particular importance to connect students prior to middle school because school connectedness decreases over time among students most at-risk.

Recommendations for Future Research

Future studies on the impact of participation on school connectedness should focus on participation in interscholastic activities and athletics. A qualitative investigation of participant perceptions would better provide an understanding of how participation in activities and athletics impacts school connectedness for students. In addition to participants in both activities and athletics, a qualitative investigation of the perceptions of coaches and sponsors would also provide an understanding of how activities and athletics impact school connectedness for students. The study could be designed to identify the qualities district programs should possess to promote increased school connectedness among the student population.

Another recommendation for future research would be to conduct a longitudinal case study over multiple years based upon the feeder patterns of each high school. A study conducted regarding the same district feeder patterns over multiple years would

allow the researcher to isolate specific behaviors of a student population and the impact on school connectedness. The study would also provide insight into the impact of a district athletics program on school connectedness in specific demographic regions of the district.

Finally, a similar quantitative study could be replicated comparing the GPAs, attendance, and discipline of students involved in state-sanctioned school activities, such as vocal and instrumental music, speech and debate, and scholar bowl, to students who participate in state-sanctioned athletics. This would provide further insight into student groups held to the same MSHSAA standards as student-athletes. Data from both activities and athletics may provide the researcher with stronger correlational data.

Summary

The purpose of this study was to determine the impact of the expansion of middle school interscholastic athletics on school connectedness in a large urban school district in Missouri. Secondary data, interview participant perceptions, and the review of literature were all considered and used to triangulate the impact of the expansion of middle school interscholastic athletics in a large urban school district in Missouri. This study was significant because it addressed the lack of research in the area of how state-sanctioned athletics impact school connectedness at the middle school level (Kohl, 2017; Knifsend & Graham, 2012; Zayas, 2018).

Chapter One began with a background of the study regarding the middle school years as crucial for connecting students to school (Blum, 2005). Few studies have been conducted to investigate the educational benefits of participation in extracurricular activities during middle school (Hughes et al., 2016). Marsh's (1993) identification/

commitment model and Finn's (1989) participation-identification model of teacher evaluation were introduced as the conceptual frameworks. The statement of the problem, the purpose of the study, and the research questions and hypotheses were provided. The significance of the study, which addressed a lack of research, was addressed. Also included in Chapter One were the definition of key terms, delimitations, limitations, and assumptions of the study.

Chapter Two included a review of the literature. The conceptual framework was further investigated as participation in school activities leads to greater identification and involvement within the school, which allows for greater commitment and more beneficial academic outcomes (Finn, 1989; Marsh, 1993). School connectedness was addressed in detail. The contemporary history of state and national high school athletics associations was described in detail. Intramural athletics were discussed, as well as interscholastic athletics. Finally, the impact of interscholastic athletics participation on GPA, attendance, and discipline was examined.

In Chapter Three, the problem and purpose of the study and the research questions were restated. The research design was then discussed. Next, a detailed explanation of the population and sample and instrumentation design for the study was shared. The qualitative sample included middle school, high school, and district athletic directors from a large urban school district in Missouri.

In Chapter Four, an analysis of the quantitative and qualitative data was presented. The qualitative data presented in this chapter were comprised of interview data collected from seven middle school athletic directors, four high school athletic directors, and two district athletic directors from a large urban school district in Missouri. The interview responses were analyzed to develop major themes.

The quantitative portion of the study was designed to determine the impact of middle school interscholastic athletics expansion on school connectedness after the district shifted from an intramural athletics model to a state-sanctioned interscholastic model. School connectedness was measured by comparing GPA, attendance, and discipline incident data between all students who played intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and all students who competed in interscholastic athletics during the school years 2017–2018 through 2019–2020. The data were then used to compare GPA, attendance, and discipline incidents between students who played intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and students who competed in interscholastic athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and students who played intramural athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and students who competed in interscholastic athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and students who competed in interscholastic athletics during athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and students who competed in interscholastic athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and students who competed in interscholastic athletics during athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and students who competed in interscholastic athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and students who competed in interscholastic athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and students who competed in interscholastic athletics during the 2016–2017 school year and students who competed in interscholastic athletics during school years 2017–2018 through 2019–2020 by gender.

Chapter Five included the findings and conclusions of this study. Implications for practice were described, including the need for connecting students to school at an earlier age. In addition, schools should implement both intramural and interscholastic athletic programs to provide opportunities for all students to participate in athletics and be more connected to school.

Recommendations for future research were also provided in Chapter Five. The first recommendation was to analyze the qualities district programs should possess in order to promote increased school connectedness among the student population based on the perceptions of participants and coaches. The second recommendation was to conduct a longitudinal study of feeder patterns of each high school over multiple years. Finally, a similar quantitative study was recommended to compare the GPAs, attendance, and discipline incidents of students involved in interscholastic activities to students involved in interscholastic athletics.

References

Allen, K., Kern, M. L., Vella-Brodrick, D., Hattie, J., & Waters, L. (2018). What schools need to know about fostering school belonging: A meta-analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, 30(1), 1–34.

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs10648-016-9389-8

Allensworth, E. M., & Clark, K. (2020). High school GPAs and ACT scores as predictors of college completion: Examining assumptions about consistency across high schools. *Educational Researcher*, 49(3), 198–211.

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.3102/0013189X20902110

Almalki, S. (2016). Integrating quantitative and qualitative data in mixed methods
research – challenges and benefits. *Journal of Education and Learning*, 5(3), 288–296. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1110464.pdf

American Psychological Association. (2019a). Middle school malaise.

http://www.apa.org/helpcenter/middle-school

American Psychological Association. (2019b). School connectedness.

https://www.apa.org/pi/lgbt/programs/safe-supportive/school-connectedness

American Psychological Association. (2020). *Publication manual of the American Psychological Association* (7th ed.) Washington, DC: Author.

Anderson, S., & Mezuk, B. (2015). Positive youth development and participation in an urban debate league: Results from Chicago Public Schools, 1997–2007. *Journal* of Negro Education, 84(3), 362–378.

https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/10.7709/jnegroeducation.84.3.0362.pdf?refreqid =excelsior%3A843e7f0d6234787f2642fc23e9d6bb60 Armstrong, S. (2016). A meta-analysis of the effect of the physical education learning environment on student outcomes [Doctoral dissertation, University of New Mexico].

https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=educ _hess_etds

- Aspen Institute. (2020). Youth sports facts: Sports participation and physical activity rates. https://www.aspenprojectplay.org/youth-sports-facts/participation-rates
- Balboni, D. C. (2016). Elementary school students and sports participation: An analysis of the factors that contribute to students continuing participation in sports
 [Doctoral dissertation, University of Hartford].
 https://www.proquest.com/docview/1793940987
- Bang, H., Chang, M., & Lee, C. (2020a). Racial and linguistic status differences in the effect of interscholastic sport participation on school engagement and academic performance among high school students. *Psychological Reports, 123*(2), 452– 471. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033294118813845
- Bang, H., Won, D., & Park, S. (2020b). School engagement, self-esteem, and depression of adolescents: The role of sport participation, volunteering activity, and gender differences. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *113*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105012

Barrow, J.G. (2015). An examination of positive normative culture and intentional positive peer influence on student attitudes, positive behaviors, and achievement in reading and math [Doctoral dissertation, University of Houston]. https://uhir.tdl.org/handle/10657/1692

- Battistich, V., Schaps, E., & Wilson, N. (2004). Effects of an elementary school intervention on students' "connectedness" to school and social adjustment during middle school. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 24(3), 243–262.
 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED474786.pdf
- Baumann, C., & Krskova, H. (2016). School discipline, school uniforms, and academic performance. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 30(6), 1003– 1029. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-09-2015-0118
- Bell, D. R., Post, E. G., Trigsted, S. M., Hetzel, S., McGuine, T. A., & Brooks, M. A. (2016). Prevalence of sport specialization in high school athletics: a 1-year observational study. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 44(6), 1469–1474.

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/David_Bell8/publication/296193965_Preval ence_of_Sport_Specialization_in_High_School_Athletics_A_1-Year_Observational_Study/links/58d538d5a6fdcc1bae57328f/Prevalence-of-Sport-Specialization-in-High-School-Athletics-A-1-Year-Observational-Study.pdf

- Berger, C., Deutsch, N., Cuadros, O., Franco Chalco, E., Rojas, M., Roux, G., &
 Sánchez, F. (2020). Adolescent peer processes in extracurricular activities:
 Identifying developmental opportunities. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 118. 10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105457
- Bishop, G. (2018, April 23). Do high school sports affect academics negatively? *Cranford Dialogue*. https://cranforddialogue.com/648/athletics/do-high-schoolsports-affect-academics-negatively/

Blum, R. W. (2005). A case for school connectedness. *Educational Leadership*, 62(7), 16–20. http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-

leadership/apr05/vol62/num07/A-Case-for-School-Connectedness.aspx

Bluman, A. G. (2018). *Elementary statistics: A step by step approach*. McGraw-Hill Education.

Bogage, J. (2019, August 28). High school sports participation drops for the first time in 30 years. Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/sports/2019/08/28/high-school-sportsparticipation-drops-first-time-years/

- Bohnert, A. M., Wargo Aikins, J., & Arola, N. T. (2013). Regrouping: Organized activity involvement and social adjustment across the transition to high school. In J. A.
 Fredricks & S. D. Simpkins (Eds.), *Organized out-of-school activities: Settings for peer relationships: New directions for child and adolescent development* (pp. 57–75). Wiley.
- Bouchard, K. L., & Berg, D. H. (2017). Students' school belonging: Juxtaposing the perspectives of teachers and students in the late elementary school years (grades 4–8). *School Community Journal*, 27(1), 107–136. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1146469.pdf
- Boudah, D. (2020). Conducting education research: Guide to completing a thesis,
 dissertation, or action research project (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE
 Publications, Inc.
- Bowles, T., & Scull, J. (2019). The Centrality of connectedness: A conceptual synthesis

of attending, belonging, engaging, and flowing. *Journal of Psychologists and Counsellors in Schools, 29*(1), 3-21. Doi:10.1017/jgc.2018.13

- Brown, K. (2016, April 25). Arizona's no pass, no play promotes scholarship among athletes. *Northeast Valley News*. https://nevalleynews.org/6697/sports/arizonasno-pass-no-play-rule-promotes-scholarship-among-athletes/
- Byl, J. (2004). Organizing effective elementary and high school intramural programs. *Physical & Health Education Journal*, 70(3), 22–30.
 https://cdn4.sportngin.com/attachments/document/0054/7010/organize_effective_programs.pdf
- Born, T. (2007, May) High standard for GPA. *Minneapolis Star Tribune*.
- Campbell, J. (2004). Intranural sports: Joining the team. Mason Crest Publishers.
- Casper, J. M., Bocarro, J. N., Kanters, M. A., & Floyd, M. F. (2011). "Just let me play!"
 Understanding constraints that limit adolescent sport participation. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 8(s1), S32–S39.

https://journals.humankinetics.com/view/journals/jpah/8/s1/article-pS32.xml

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC]. (2009). School connectedness:

Strategies for Human Services.

https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/protective/pdf/connectedness.pdf

- Chan, G. H. (2019). The effect of employment on delinquent behavior among youth in hidden situation. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, 10, 229. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00229
- Chan, Y. K. (2016). Investigating the relationship among extracurricular activities, learning approach and academic outcomes: A case study. *Active Learning in*

Higher Education, *17*(3), 223-233. https://doi.org/10.1177/1

https://doi.org/10.1177/1469787416654795469787416654795

- Christensen, K., Raposa, E. B., Hagler, M. A., Erickson, L., & Rhodes, J. E. (2019). Role of athletic coach mentors in promoting youth academic success: Evidence from the ADD health national longitudinal study. *Applied Developmental Science*. https://www.rhodeslab.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Role-of-athletic-coach-mentors-in-promoting-youth-academic-success-Evidence-from-the-Add-Health-national-longitudinal-study.pdf
- Clark, K.S. (2019). Sports for all: Creating an intramural athletics program for middle and high school students. Rowman & Littlefield.
- Coe, D. P., Pivarnik, J. M., Womack, C. J., Reeves, M. J., & Malina, R. M. (2006). Effect of physical education and activity levels on academic achievement in children. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 38*, 1515–1519. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.mss.0000227537.13175.1b
- Colabianchi, N., Johnston, L., & O'Malley, P. M. (2012). Sports participation in secondary schools: Resources available and inequalities in participation – a BTG research brief. Bridging the Gap. http://www.bridgingthegapresearch.org/_asset/7gf1g0/btg_sports_participation_FI NAL.pdf
- Crownover, A., & Jones, J. R. (2018). A relational pedagogy: A call for teacher educators to rethink how teacher candidates are trained to combat bullying. *Journal of Thought*, *52*(1–2), 17–28.

https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A544712824/ITOF?u=sain20269&sid=ITOF&xid =0c0402df

Cuffe, H. E. Waddell, G. R., & Bignell, W. (2017). Can school sports reduce racial gaps in truancy and achievement? *Political Institutions: Bureaucracies & Public Administration eJournal. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecin.12452*

Doumen, S., Verschueren, K., Buyse, E., Germeijs, V., Luyckx, K., & Soenens, B.
(2008). Reciprocal relations between teacher-child conflict and aggressive behavior in kindergarten: A three-wave longitudinal study. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 37(3), 588–599.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15374410802148079

- Duquesne University. (2020). What are research instruments? https://guides.library.duq.edu/researchinstruments
- Easton, J. Q., Johnson, E., & Sartain, L. (2017). *The predictive power of ninth-grade GPA*. University of Chicago Consortium on School Research. http://www.hsredesign.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Predictive-Power-of-Ninth-Grade-Sept-2017-Consortium.pdf
- Eccles, J. S. (2008). *Can middle school reform increase high school graduation rates?* University of California.
- Etikan, I., Musa, A. S., Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, *5*(1), 1–4.

http://article.sciencepublishinggroup.com/html/10.11648.j.ajtas.20160501.11.html

- Finn, J. D. (1989). Withdrawing from school. *Review of Educational Research*, 59(2), 117–142. https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/221e/ec4c94a3484f6a025d2477b65f00c481c541. pdf
- Fraenkel, J. R., Wallen, N. E., & Hyun, H. H. (2019). *How to design and evaluate research in education* (10th ed.). McGraw-Hill.
- Froehlich, J. (2020). Participation in high school interscholastic athletic programs as an intervention to increase academic success of students in poverty. (Publication No. 1588162539043128) [Doctoral Dissertation].

https://etd.ohiolink.edu/apexprod/rws_olink/r/1501/10?clear=10&p10_accession_ num=miami1588162539043128

- Frostick, C., Tong, J., Moore, D., Renton, A., & Netuveli, G. (2018). The impact of academies on school connectedness, future aspirations and mental health in adolescents from areas of deprivation in London. *Pastoral Care in Education*, 36(4), 325–342. https://doi.org/10.1080/02643944.2018.1528626
- Furness, K., Williams, M. N., Veale, J. F., & Gardner, D. H. (2017). Maximising potential: The psychological effects of the youth development programme Project K. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, *46*(1), 14–23. https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A496643634/ITOF?u=sain20269&sid=ITOF&xid =524e90dd
- Garcia, M. G., & Subia, G. S. (2019). High school athletes: Their motivation, study habits, self-discipline and academic performance. *International Journal of*

Physical Education, Sports and Health, 6(1), 86–90.

http://www.kheljournal.com/archives/2019/vol6issue1/PartB/6-1-28-401.pdf

- Garcia-Moya, I., Bunn, F., Jimenez-Iglesias, A., Paniagua, C., & Brooks, F. M. (2019).
 The conceptualization of school and teacher connectedness in adolescent
 research: A scoping review of literature. *Educational Review*, 71(4), 423–444.
 https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/00131911.2018.1424117?needAcc
 ess=true
- Gerdy, J. R. (2014). Ball or bands: Football vs band as an educational and community investment. Archway Publishing.
- Gerdy, J. R. (2018). Envisioning a better model for interscholastic sports. Medium. https://medium.com/@drjohngerdy/envisioning-a-better-model-forinterscholastic-sports-91e7ef4a0c13
- González, T., Etow, A., & De La Vega, C. (2019). Health equity, school discipline reform, and restorative justice. *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics,* 47(2_suppl), 47–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073110519857316
- Gowing, A. (2019). Peer-peer relationships: A key factor in enhancing school connectedness and belonging. *Educational and Child Psychology*, *36*(2), 64–77. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Annie_Gowing/publication/333672443_Peer peer_relationships_A_key_factor_in_enhancing_school_connectedness_and_belo nging/links/5e61d9ffa6fdccac3ceeb278/Peer-peer-relationships-A-key-factor-in-enhancing-school-connectedness-and-belonging.pdf
- Gowing, A., & Jackson, A. (2016). Connecting to school: Exploring student and staff understandings of connectedness to school and the factors associated with this

process. *The Educational and Developmental Psychologist*, (33)1, 54–69. https://doi.org/10.1017/edp.2016.10

Gubbels, J., van der Put, C. E., & Assnik, M. (2019). Risk factors for school absenteeism and dropout: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 48, 1637-1667. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-019-01072-5

Haddix, J. (2016). Growth of non-school sports leads to fewer multi-sport athletes. https://www.nfhs.org/articles/growth?of?non?school?sports ?leads?to?fewer?multi?sport?athletes/

- Healthy Schools Campaign. (2016). *What is a healthy school?* https://healthyschoolscampaign.org/about/our-vision-what-is-a-healthy-school/
- Holmes, A., Illowsky, B., & Dean, S. (2017). Introductory business statistics. Rice University Press.
- Hughes, J., Cao, Q., & Kwok, O. (2016). Indirect effects of extracurricular participation on academic adjustment via perceived friends' prosocial norms. *Journal of Youth* & Adolescence, 45(11), 2260–2277.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5056131/

- Illinois High School Association. About the IHSA. https://www.ihsa.org/About-the-IHSA
- Im, M. H., Hughes, J. N., Cao, Q., & Kwok, O. M. (2016). Effects of extracurricular participation during middle school on academic motivation and achievement at grade 9. American Educational Research Journal, 53(5), 1343–1375. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6205243/

- Jacob, B. A., & Lovett, K. (2017). *Chronic absenteeism: An old problem in search of new answers*. Brookings. https://www.brookings.edu/research/chronic-absenteeism-an-old-problem-in-search-of-new-answers/
- Johnson, R. B., & Christensen, L. (2020). Educational research: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches (7th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Jones, G. J., Hyun, M., Edwards, M. B., Casper, J., Bocarro, J. N., & Lynch, J. (2019). Is "school sport" associated with school belongingness? Testing the influence of school sport policy. *Sport Management Review*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2019.12.003
- Kamau, A. W., Rintaugu, E. G., Nuniu, R. K., & Amusa, L. O. (2015). The effect of participation in competitive sports on school connectedness of secondary school students. *African Journal for Physical, Health Education, Recreation and Dance, 21*(3), 876–889.

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/0ea4/ee15bbc08c7bd98a4010ef138227c44dcf45. pdf

Kim, J., Walsh, E., Pike, K., & Thompson, E. A. (2020). Cyberbullying and victimization and youth suicide risk: The buffering effects of school connectedness. *The Journal of School Nursing*, *36*(4), 251-257. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1059840518824395

Kerr, S. (2018). Five reasons good sportsmanship matters. *Game Changer*. http://theseason.gc.com/coach-advice-five-reasons-good-sportsmanship-matters

- Knifsend, C. A., Camacho-Thompson, D. E., Juvonen, J., & Graham, S. (2018). Friends in activities, school-related affect, and academic outcomes in diverse middle schools. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*, 47(6), 1208–1220. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6112151/
- Knifsend, C. A., & Graham, S. (2012). Too much of a good thing? How breadth of extracurricular participation relates to school-related affect and academic outcomes during adolescence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *41*(3), 379–389. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/51870304_Too_Much_of_a_Good_Thi ng_How_Breadth_of_Extracurricular_Participation_Relates_to_School-Related_Affect_and_Academic_Outcomes_During_Adolescence
- Kohl, C. J. (2017). The academic and behavioral impact of multiple sport participation on high school athletes (Publication No. 10684398) [Doctoral dissertation, Lindenwood University].

https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/doc/1973151171.html?FMT=ABS

Korpershoek, H., Canrinus, E. T., Fokkens-Bruinsma, & de Boer, H. (2019). The relationships between school belonging and students' motivational, social-emotional, behavioral, and academic outcomes in secondary education: A meta-analytic review. *Research Papers in Education*, *35*(6), 641-680. https://doi.org/10.1080/02671522.2019.1615116

Kozub, F. M., & Samalot-Rivera, A. (2020). Interscholastic participation for athletes with disabilities revisited: Are today's programs doing enough?. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, *91*(2), 42-51.
https://doi.org/10.1080/07303084.2019.1693453

Lang, C. M. (2018). A quantitative analysis of high school sports participation intensity and breadth: relationships with academic achievement in a rural Missouri high school (Publication No. 1035566956) [Doctoral dissertation, University of Missouri—Columbia]. https://hdl.handle.net/10355/66956

Latimore, T. L., Peguero, A. A., Popp, A. M., Shekarkhar, Z., & Koo, D. J. (2018).
School-based activities, misbehavior, discipline, and racial and ethnic disparities. *Education and Urban Society*, 50(5), 403–434.
https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124517713603

- Lemkin, A., Kistin, C. J., Cabral, H. J., Aschengrau, A., & Bair-Merritt, M. (2018). School connectedness and high school graduation among maltreated youth. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 75, 130–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.04.023
- Levitt, H. M., Bamberg, M., Creswell, J. W., Frost, D. M., Josselson, R., & Suárez-Orozco, C. (2018). Journal article reporting standards for qualitative primary, qualitative meta-analytic, and mixed methods research in psychology: The APA Publications and Communications Board task force report. *American Psychologist*, *73*(1), 26–46. https://psycnet.apa.org/fulltext/2018-00750-003.pdf
- Logan, K., Lloyd, R. S., Schafer-Kalkhoff, T., Khoury, J. C., Ehrlich, S., Dolan, L. M., Shah, A. S., & Myer, G. D. (2020). Youth sports participation and health status in early adulthood: A 12-year follow-up. *Preventive medicine reports*, *19*, 101107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2020.101107
- Loh, S. (2019, January 6). Pros and cons: Even the Europeans say the American model of youth sports is ideal for the development of elite athletes. *Penn Live*.

https://www.pennlive.com/patriotnewssports/2011/04/pros_and_cons_even_the_e uropea.html

- Longobardi, C., Prino, L. E., Marengo, D., & Settanni, M. (2016). Student-teacher relationships as a protective factor for school adjustment during the transition from middle to high school. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7(2016), 1–9. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01988/full
- Loukas, A., Cance, J. D., & Batanova, M. (2016). Trajectories of school connectedness across the middle school years: Examining the roles of adolescents' internalizing and externalizing problems. *Youth & Society*, 48(4), 557–576. https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X13504419
- Luciani, M., Campbell, K., Tschirhart, H., Ausili, D., & Jack, S. M. (2019). How to design a qualitative health research study. Part 1: Design and purposeful sampling considerations. *Professioni Infermieristiche*, 72(2), 152–161. http://profinf.net/pro3/index.php/IN/article/view/632/270
- Majid, M. A. A., Othman, M., Mohamad, S. F., Lim, S. A. H., & Yusof, A. (2017).
 Piloting for interviews in qualitative research: Operationalization and lessons learnt. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 7(4), 1073–1080.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/317696788_Piloting_for_Interviews_in _Qualitative_Research_Operationalization_and_Lessons_Learnt

Malin, H. (2015). Arts participation as a context for youth purpose. *Studies in Art Education*, *56*(3), 268–280. https://coa.stanford.edu/publications/arts-participation-context-youth-purpose

- Marsh, H. W. (1993). The effects of participation in sport during the last two years of high school. *Sociology of Sport Journal*, 10(1), 18–43.
 https://journals.humankinetics.com/view/journals/ssj/10/1/article-p18.xml
- Marsh, H. W., & Kleitman, S. (2002). Extracurricular school activities: The good, the bad, and the nonlinear. *Harvard Educational Review*, 72, 464–515. http://dx.doi.org/10.17763/haer.72.4.051388703v7v7736
- Marsh, M. M. (2020). The strategic plan, expansion of athletic program offerings, & transition to the state association. National Interscholastic Athletics
 Administrators Association.
- Marsh, R. J., Higgins, K., Morgan, J., Cumming, T. M., Brown, M., & McCreery, M. (2019). Evaluating school connectedness of students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Children and Schools*, 41, 153–160. https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/cdz013

Martinez, A., Coker, C., McMahon, S. D., Cohen, J., & Thapa, A. (2016). Involvement in extracurricular activities: Identifying differences in perceptions of school climate. *The Educational and Developmental Psychologist*, *33*(1), 70–84. https://digitalcommons.sacredheart.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1020&context=socwk_fac

- McEwin, C. K., & Dickinson, T. S. (2019). *What role for middle school sports?*. AASA. https://www.aasa.org/SchoolAdministratorArticle.aspx?id=15332
- Merriam-Webster, Incorporated. (2019). Interscholastic. In *Merriam-Webster's school dictionary*. Thomson Press.

- Missouri State High School Activities Association [MSHSAA]. (2020a). Official handbook. https://www.mshsaa.org/resources/pdf/Official%20Handbook.pdf
- Missouri State High School Activities Association [MSHSAA]. (2020b). Sports and activities. http://www.mshsaa.org/Activities/
- Morris, D. S. (2016). Extracurricular Activity Participation in High School: Mechanisms Linking Participation to Math Achievement and 4-Year College Attendance.
 American Educational Research Journal, 53(5), 1376–1410.
 https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831216667579
- National Alliance for Youth Sport. (2015). Study examines academic benefits of sports for middle schoolers. https://www.nays.org/sklive/sure-shots/study-examinesacademic-benefits-of-sports-for-middle-schoolers/
- National Association for Sports and Physical Education. (2001). *Guidelines for afterschool physical activities and intramural sport programs* [Position paper]. http://www.statewideafterschoolnetworks.net/system/files/resources/Guidelines% 20for%20After.pdf
- National Association for Sports and Physical Education. (2008). *Comprehensive school physical activity programs* [Position statement].
- National Collaborative on Education and Health. (2015). Brief on Chronic absenteeism and school health. https://www.attendanceworks.org/wp-

content/uploads/2017/09/Chronic-Absentee ism-and-School-Health-Brief-1.pdf

National Federation of State High School Associations [NFHS]. (2019a). About us. https://www.nfhs.org/who-we-are/aboutus

- National Federation of State High School Associations [NFHS]. (2019b). Defining education-based activity programs. https://www.nfhs.org/articles/definingeducation-based-activity-programs/
- National Federation of State High School Associations [NFHS]. (2019c). Educationbased sports and activities: It's not just for entertainment. https://nfhs.org/articles/education-based-sports-and-activities-it-s-not-just-forentertainment/
- National Federation of State High School Associations [NFHS]. (2019d). High school athletics participation survey. https://www.nfhs.org/media/1020412/2018-19_participation_survey.pdf
- Noltemeyer, A. L., Ward, R. M., & McLoughlin, C. (2015). Relationship between school suspension and student outcomes: A meta-analysis. *School Psychology Review* (44)2, 224–240. https://edsource.org/wp-

content/uploads/2018/09/Noltemeyer_Ward_2015_Meta-Analysis.pdf

North Carolina High School Athletic Association. (2017). Overton study.

https://www.nchsaa.org/overton-study

- North Carolina High School Athletic Association. (2020). *Official handbook*. https://www.nchsaa.org/sites/default/files/attachments/NCHSAA%20Handbook% 202019-2020%20FINAL.pdf
- O'Donnell, J. (2020). The importance of your child's middle school GPA. *Very Well Family*. https://www.verywellfamily.com/how-important-is-the-middle-schoolgpa-3288136

- Ohio University. (2020a, January 22). Benefits of youth and interscholastic sports participation. https://onlinemasters.ohio.edu/blog/benefits-and-impact-of-youth-interscholastic-sports/
- Ohio University. (2020b, January 31). The benefits of athletic association membership. https://onlinemasters.ohio.edu/blog/the-benefits-of-athletic-associationmembership/
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., Frels, R. K., & Hwang, E. (2016). Mapping Saldana's coding methods onto the literature review process. *Journal of Educational Issues*, 2(1), 130–150. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1127478.pdf
- Overman, S. J. (2019). Sports crazy: How sports are sabotaging American schools. University of Mississippi Press.
- Pantzer, J., Dorwart, C. E., & Woodson-Smith, A. (2018). Importance of bonding in middle school intramural sports participation: Psychosocial outcomes based on gender and grade-level differences. *The Physical Educator*, *75*(4). https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A557425431/ITOF?u=sain20269&sid=ITOF&xid=63fe68ab

Participation in high school activities are valuable part of overall high school experience.

(2017, July 28). Mexico Ledger.

https://www.mexicoledger.com/news/20170728/participation-in-high-schoolactivities-are-valuable-part-of-overall-high-school-experience

Peguero, A. A., Ovink, S. M., & Li, Y. L. (2016). Social bonding to school and educational inequality: Race/ethnicity, dropping out, and the significance of place. Sociological Perspectives, 59(2), 317–344.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0731121415586479

Pestana, E. R., de Carvalho, W. R. G., de Menezes Nunes, L. A., da Silva Almeida, F. D. A., & Salvador, E. P. (2018). Sports practice and factors associated with school performance in grade and high school: Comparison between athletes and non-athletes. *Sport Sciences for Health*, *14*(3), 639–644. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11332-018-0478-6

Powelson, R. A. (2015). Teacher perceptions of school athletics and the academic experience: A case study of a rural Kansas high school [Doctoral dissertation, Wichita State University]. https://soar.wichita.edu/bitstream/handle/10057/11605/d15019_Powelson.pdf?seq uence=1&isAllowed=y

- Pruter, R. (2013). *The rise of American high school sports and the search for control:* 1880–1930. Syracuse University Press. doi:10.2307/j.ctt1j1ntd2
- Reeves, K. (2019). *Athletic eligibility: Right or privilege?* AASA. https://www.aasa.org/SchoolAdministratorArticle.aspx?id=15312#
- Regnault, A., Willgoss, T., & Barbic, S. (2017). Towards the use of mixed methods inquiry as best practice in health outcomes research. *Journal of Patient-Reported Outcomes*, 2(1), 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41687-018-0043-8

Resnick, M. D., Harris, L. J., & Blum, R. W. (1993). The impact of caring and connectedness on adolescent health and well-being. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 29, S3–S9. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1440-1754.1993.tb02257.x

- Rubincam, M. C. (2019). Student athlete interscholastic participation and academic achievement compared to the student non-athlete (Publication No. 13425390).
 [Doctoral dissertation, Wilmington University]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing
- Ruel, E., Wagner III, W., & Gillespie, B. (2016). Pretesting and pilot testing. In E. Ruel,
 W. Wagner III, & B. Gillespie (Eds.), *The practice of survey research* (pp. 101–119). SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483391700
- Sadik, F. & Ozturk, I. H. (2018) Discipline at the school: Examination of school administrators' views about discipline and disciplinary problems. *Pegem Journal* of Education and Instruction, 8(4), 729–770.

http://www.pegegog.net/index.php/pegegog/article/view/pegegog.2018.029

Sampasa-Kanyinga, H., Chaput, J. P., & Hamilton, H. A. (2019). Social media use, school connectedness, and academic performance among adolescents. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, 40(2), 189-211.

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10935-019-00543-6

Seow, P., & Pan, G. (2014). A literature review of the impact of extracurricular activities participation on students' academic performance. *Journal of Education for Business*, 89(7), 361–366.

https://ink.library.smu.edu.sg/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2249&context=soa_res earch

Sherman, M. (2017). Culturally relevant interscholastic athletics involvement: The impacts on student engagement and identification with school (Publishing No. 10801494) [Doctoral dissertation, University of Southern California].

https://search.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/culturally-relevantinterscholastic-athletics/docview/2071222384/se-2?accountid=12104

- Shetty, S. (2018). Determining sample size for qualitative research: What is the magical number? https://interq-research.com/determining-sample-size-for-qualitative-research-what-is-the-magical-number/
- Shulkind, S. B., & Foote, J. (2009). Creating a culture of connectedness through middle school advisory programs. *Middle School Journal*, 41(1), 20–27. http://www.nmsa.org/Publications/MiddleSchoolJournal/Articles/September2009/ tabid/2011/Default.aspx.
- Solomon, J. (2019). *Staying in the game: Progress and challenges in youth sports*. Aspen Institute. https://www.aspeninstitute.org/blog-posts/staying-in-the-game-progressand-challenges-in-youth-sports/
- Spruit, A., van Vugt, E., van der Put, C., van der Stouwe, T., & Stams, G. (2016). Sports participation and juvenile delinquency: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Youth Adolescence*, 45, 655–671. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-015-0389-7
- Stoll, S. K., & Beller, J. M. (2000). Do sports build character? In J. R. Gerdy (Ed.), Sports in school: The future of an institution (pp. 18–30). Teachers College Press.
- Streb, A. G. (2009). A study of the association between high school student participation in co-curricular activities and academic achievement (Publication No. 3367008) [Doctoral dissertation, University of Missouri-St. Louis]. https://www.proquest.com/docview/305081565
- Stucko, M. (2018). Sport participation and academic achievement in high school activities. Kinesiology, Sport Studies, and Physical Education Synthesis Projects,

https://digitalcommons.brockport.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1058&context= pes_synthesis

- Sudlow, S. M., Parker, J. S., Shaunessy-Dedrick, E., & O'Brennan, L. M. (2019). Mental health interventions. In J. A. Fredricks, A. L. Reschly, & S. L. Christenson (Eds.), *Handbook of student engagement interventions: Working with disengaged students* (pp. 199–216). Academic Press.
- Tomek, S., Bolland, A. C., Hooper, L. M., Hitchcock, S., & Bolland, J. M. (2017). The impact of middle school connectedness on future high school outcomes in a black American sample. *Middle Grades Research Journal*, 11(1), 1–12. https://www.infoagepub.com/mgrj-issue.html?i=p593c9c478a835
- Umeh, Z. Bumpus, J. P., Harris, A. L. (2020). The impact of suspension on participation in school-based extracurricular activities and out-of-school community service. *Social Science Research*, 85, 102354.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0049089X18310202

University of Missouri. (2020). Benefits of sports for adolescents.

https://www.muhealth.org/conditions-treatments/pediatrics/adolescentmedicine/benefits-of-sports

- Verhoeven, M., Poorhuis, A. M. G., & Volman, M. (2019). The role of school in adolescents' identity development. A literature review. *Educational Psychology Review*, 31, 35-63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-018-9457-3
- Vollstedt, M., & Rezat, S. (2019). An introduction to grounded theory with a special focus on axial coding and the coding paradigm. In *Compendium for early career*

researchers in mathematics education (pp. 81–100). Springer.

https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-030-15636-7_4

- Wake County Public Schools. (2020, August). *Student and parent codes of athletic conduct*. https://www.wcpss.net/Page/1464
- Wang, MT., Chow, A. & Amemiya, J. (2017). Who wants to play? Sport motivation trajectories, sport participation, and the development of depressive symptoms. J Youth Adolescence 46, 1982–1998. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-017-0649-9
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, 15(1), 45–55.
 https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/5dd2/51ddfbb6a563b900e53a9b3476a8c4b2557.
 pdf
- Wilson, K. M. (2018). School connectedness and academic success (Publication No. 9780438538269) [Master's thesis, Old Dominion University]. https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/sociology_criminaljustice_etds/21?utm_source=d igitalcommons.odu.edu%2Fsociology_criminaljustice_etds%2F21&utm_medium =PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
- Women's Sports Foundation. (2018). *Benefits why sports participation for girls and women*. https://www.womenssportsfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/benefits-why-sports-participation-for-girls-and-women-the-foundation-position.pdf
- Wretman, C. J. (2017). School sports participation and academic achievement in middle and high school. *Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research*, 8(3), 399– 420. https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/pdfplus/10.1086/693117

Yanık, M. (2018). Effect of participation in school sports teams on middle school students' engagement in school. *Education Sciences*, 8(3), 123–141. https://www.mdpi.com/2227-7102/8/3/123/htm

Yarkwah, C., & Agyei, E. (2020). Effects of sports participation on the academic performance of senior high school students in mathematics. *Global Journal of Arts, Humanities, and Social Sciences, 8*(2), 62–74.
https://www.eajournals.org/wp-content/uploads/Effects-of-Sports-Participation-on-the-Academic-Performance-of-Senior-High-School-Students-in-Mathematics.pdf

Yeung, R. C. (2015). Athletics, athletic leadership, and academic achievement. *Education and Urban Society*, 47, 361-387. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124513495277

Zabriskie, C., Henderson, R., & Stewart, J. (2018). The Importance of Belonging and Self-Efficacy in Engineering Identity. AERA open. https://par.nsf.gov/servlets/purl/10058182

Zaff, J., Donlan, A., Gunning, A., Anderson, S., McDermott, E., & Sedaca, M. (2017).
Factors that promote high school graduation: a review of the literature. *Educational Psychology Review*, 29(3), 447–476. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-016-9363-5

Zayas, R. J. (2018). Examination of the impact interscholastic athletics has on participating student-athletes from the perspective of the high school principal, athletic director and school counselor (Publishing No. 149659625) [Doctoral dissertation, University of New Mexico]. https://digital repository.unm.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1094 & context=educ

_hess_etds

Appendix A

Participant Interview Questions

- Do students who participate in interscholastic athletics have better GPAs than students who participate in intramural athletics at the middle school level? Why or why not?
- 2. Do students who participate in interscholastic athletics have better attendance than students who participate in intramural athletics at the middle school level? Why or why not?
- 3. Do students who participate in interscholastic athletics have fewer discipline incidents than students who participate in intramural athletics at the middle school level? Why or why not?
- 4. Do you see more school connectedness with participating students since the shift was made from intramural athletics to state-sanctioned interscholastic athletics at the middle school level? Please explain your response.
- 5. Do you see any other benefits of interscholastic athletics associated with school connectedness that have not been mentioned? If so, please explain.
- 6. Do you see any negatives effects on school connectedness from middle school sports shifting from intramurals to an interscholastic model sanctioned by MSHSAA? In other words, are there any benefits intramural sports provide that interscholastic sports do not? Please explain your response.

Appendix B

Permission to Conduct Interviews

RE: Permission to Conduct Research in Public Schools

Dear

(Date)

I am writing to request permission to conduct research in Public Schools. I am currently pursuing my doctorate through Lindenwood University and am in the process of writing my dissertation. The study is entitled *Examining the Impact of Interscholastic State Activity Association Athletics Expansion at the Middle School Level in a Large Urban School District*. I am asking permission to conduct interviews of all athletic directors in the district.

If you agree, please sign below, scan this page, and email to me, Nathaniel Gillespie, at **Example 1**. Your approval to conduct this study will be greatly appreciated. I would be happy to answer any questions or concerns that you may have regarding this study.

Sincerely,

Nathaniel Gillespie,

Doctoral Student at Lindenwood University

Approved by:

Print name and title here

Signature

Date

Appendix C

IRB Approval Letter

Sep 18, 2020 3:03 PM CDT

RE:

IRB-21-16: Initial - Examining the Impact of Interscholastic State Activity Association Athletics Expansion at the Middle School Level in a Large Urban School District

Dear Nathaniel Gillespie,

The study, Examining the Impact of Interscholastic State Activity Association Athletics Expansion at the Middle School Level in a Large Urban School District, has been Approved as Exempt.

Category: Category 1. Research, conducted in established or commonly accepted educational settings, that specifically involves normal educational practices that are not likely to adversely impact students' opportunity to learn required educational content or the assessment of educators who provide instruction. This includes most research on regular and special education instructional strategies, and research on the effectiveness of or the comparison among instructional techniques, curricula, or classroom management methods.

The submission was approved on September 18, 2020.

Here are the findings:

Regulatory Determinations

• This study has been determined to be minimal risk because the research is not obtaining data considered sensitive information or performing interventions posing harm greater than those ordinarily encountered in daily life or during the performance of routine physical or psychological examinations or tests.

Sincerely, Lindenwood University (lindenwood) Institutional Review Board **Appendix D**

LINDENWOOD

Research Study Consent Form

Interview

Examining the Impact of Interscholastic State Activity Association Athletics Expansion at the Middle School Level in a Large Urban School District

You are asked to participate in a research study being conducted by Nathaniel Gillespie under the guidance of Dr. Brad Hanson at Lindenwood University. Being in a research study is voluntary, and you are free to stop at any time. Before you choose to participate, you are free to discuss this research study with family, friends, or a physician. Do not feel like you must join this study until all of your questions or concerns are answered.

Why is this research being conducted?

We are conducting this study to examine the expansion of middle school interscholastic athletics in a large urban school district in Missouri based on the perceptions of athletic directors in the district. We will be asking about 10 other people to answer these questions.

What am I being asked to do?

During this study, you will be interviewed about your perceptions of the expansion of middle school athletics and the impact on school connectedness factors of GPA, attendance, and discipline. It will take approximately 30–60 minutes to complete this study.

There are no risks to participate in this study. You will receive no direct benefits for completing this survey. We hope what we learn may benefit other people in the future.

What if I do not choose to participate in this research?

It is always your choice to participate in this study. You may withdraw at any time. You may choose not to answer any questions or perform tasks that make you uncomfortable.

How will you keep my information private?

We will do everything we can to protect your privacy. We do not intend to include information that could identify you in any publication or presentation. Any information we collect will be stored by the researcher in a secure location. The only people who will be able to see your data are members of the research team, qualified staff of Lindenwood University, and representatives of state or federal agencies.

Who can I contact with questions or concerns?

If you have any questions or concerns about this study, please use the following contact information:

 Nathaniel Gillespie email:

 Dr. Brad Hanson email:

If you have questions about your rights as a participant in this research or concerns about the study, or if you feel under any pressure to enroll or to continue to participate in this study, you may contact the Lindenwood University Institutional Review Board Director, Michael Leary, at (636) 949-4730 or mleary@lindenwood.edu.

Vita

Nathaniel B. Gillespie obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in Politics and Government from Drury University in 2003. He attended Lindenwood University and earned a Master of Arts in Educational Administration degree in 2014.

Nathaniel began his career in education at Spokane R-VII School District in 2009, where he taught high school Spanish for two years. In 2012, he moved to Glendale High School in Springfield, Missouri, where he taught Spanish and English for four years. Nathaniel became Coordinator of Site Interventions at Central High School in Springfield in 2014. Nathaniel currently serves as assistant principal at Ozark High School, a role he began in 2019.